
4 June 2006, over the Caribbean Sea, en route to Sao Paolo, Brazil

Day 1:  Sunday, June 4, 2006

The trip thus far, as we just now passed the seven hours to go mark, has been rather uneventful, which is just how one would want air travel to be I suppose.  All of our flights have been on time, and once the air, they’ve all been smooth.  

We did have one rather amusing situation on our flight from Tucson to Houston.  We were on a small regional jet with only one flight attendant.  With only one person, the voice going through the whole safety speech was pre-recorded, and the flight attendant was lip syncing the words.  What made this so amusing was the fact that the voice was female and the flight attendant was male.   He wasn’t exactly a small guy either.  I think he understood how absurd it was too, as he was kind of playing it off (very subtly) like he was gay.

So far, I have only one complaint.  The seats on the international leg provide the least amount of space of I’ve experienced on an overseas flight.  If you’re on a plane for 10 hours, it’s nice to have a little bit more than average space.  We don’t have much more room than we had on that tiny regional jet to Houston.

And now, after several interruptions, we have 6 hours and 24 minutes until we arrive in Sao Paolo.

6 hours and 19 minutes.

6 hours and 14 minutes

6 hours and 11 minutes

I hate international flights.  Shan’s trying to sleep (apparently with at least some success).  Maybe I’ll read a bit.

6:00 p.m., 8 June 2006, Italia Palace Hotel, Ipanema, Minas Gerais, Brazil

Day 2:  Monday, June 5, 2006

By early a.m. the next day, STILL on the flight to Sao Paolo.  Having sat for far too many, I decided to stand for a while, leaving Shan both of our seats to “stretch out on.”  Ha!  Still, she was able to get some sleep as I stood in the aisle.  After a while, instead of partially blocking the aisle, I moved back to one of the emergency exits and stood there for a while and worked on a poem.

When I had a working copy of the poem, I went back to see how Shan was doing.  She was still sleeping, but woke up not long after I got there.  We then tried various intermingled poses so we could get fairly recumbent to try to get some sleep, but none worked.  We ended up just sitting upright in our own seats and drifting in and out of sleep for the rest of the flight.

We were both really tired when we landed in Sao Paolo at around nine o’clock Monday morning.  Then we got off the plane and the line to get through immigration was so long that we had to walk the opposite direction from immigration to get to the end of the line.  There were a lot of rude people who kept cutting in on the line, so I guess people are the same everywhere.  Though the line moved fairly quickly, it took over an hour to get to the customs official.  We passed much of the time talking to an American businessman who often travels to Brazil.  

Once through immigration, we picked up our baggage and went through customs, which was quick and painless and we were out by about 10:30.  Our last big hurdle before we could rest would be finding the hotel shuttle for our hotel.  We found the area that appeared to be for hotel shuttles easily, so we figured all we had to do was wait a little bit, as the shuttle arrives every hour.  Shan was a bit nervous about us being in the right spot, so she asked someone if we were in the right spot for the Hotel Melia.  He said we were and that it should be there soon.  So we waited.  After a while, Shan was really anxious to get to the hotel, so I went to find a pay phone to call the hotel.  The only problem was that even though I had Brazilian coins, the payphones don’t take Brazilian coins, or even bills for that matter.   They only take phone cards.  So I had to go to the information desk to ask about phone cards.  I went to buy a phone card and the smallest amount I could get one in was R$12 (R=Reais, the Brazilian currency), or about $6 US.  I went to go use the phone card, but kept getting strange beeping noises that I didn’t know  the meaning of, so I gave up and we waited some more.   During this time we saw shuttles for many other hotels come and go several times, which made the experience all the more frustrating.

It was also during this time that we discovered that people are not the same everywhere.  While sitting there waiting for the bus, several very friendly Brazilians asked us what hotel shuttle we were waiting for.  Each went out of his way to make sure we were waiting in the right place.  Each found out that the shuttle should be arriving soon.  One, who’s name (if I heard right) was Gilbert, was extremely helpful, and even used his own calling card to call our hotel to ask when the shuttle would be there.  They said it had been, but that another would come in 15-20 minutes.  Not knowing how we’d missed it, since we’d been sitting there for 90 minutes by that point, we decided to wait another 20 minutes.

At the end of those 20 minutes, still no shuttle for our hotel, so after waiting for about 2 hours total, we finally gave up and hired a taxi for $30R.   The taxi ride took all of about 15 minutes.  I was so happy to have gotten Shan to the hotel that I tipped the driver $10R, quite a bit more than would be usual based on our guide book.  

In retrospect, I should have just gotten a taxi right away.  Due to lack of sleep, Shan was extremely tired, which is never a good thing.  She handled it very well at the time, but the experience took its toll on both of us later.  When we got to our room, and Shan discovered that there wasn't a bathtub, she lost it.  She had been so looking forward to a bath and a nap that they were the last things keeping her together.  I tried to soothe her, then called the front desk to see if they had a room with a bathtub.  This turned into a comical situation, as I got transferred to several people, including housekeeping, trying to find someone who knew what "bathtub" meant.  As we would find out later, bathtubs are very rare in Brazil, as no hotels seem to have them and our guide didn't even know what a bathtub is.  So needless to say, Shan didn't get her bathtub. The only thing that helped make the situation a little better was that at least the water was hot.  So she had a long hot shower.  And I do mean long!  I know, because I gave her first dibs so had to wait for her to get done.

Add to all of this that the lariam medication she was taking was messing with her emotionally, and you can bet there was hell to pay.  And pay hell I did, or at least visit it for a little while.

Written 14 June 2006, Baizinha Hotel, Mato Grosso, Brazil

Shan had really hoped to do a little shopping our first afternoon in Brazil, since we would have some time.  Since it took so long to get to the hotel, she decided to skip the nap and try to go shopping, as well as find a nice Brazilian restaurant to have dinner at.  She asked the hotel staff about both, and was told that the International Mall was a great place to go.  So they called us a taxi to take us there.  The taxi is where things really started to go down hill fast.  As we were driving away, we discovered that there weren’t any seatbelts.  Shan is a stickler for using seatbelts, and wasn’t happy.  Just how unhappy, I wouldn’t realize until we were quite some distance from the hotel and it was too late.  I’ll make a long story short, and just say that I was in BIG trouble for not stopping the taxi and finding another one.  The combination of the lack of sleep, the lack of a bath, and the emotional side effects of the Lariam made her totally breakdown in the cab, and then again middle of International Mall.

What was comical was that International Mall was just a regular old shopping mall like you can find in the U.S.  And all of the restaurants there were chains.  They were almost entirely Brazilian chain restaurants, but they were chains nonetheless.  We wandered around a bit in hopes of finding someplace unique, but we failed.  We did end up finding some Brazilian food at a buffet style restaurant, but in general it was pretty mediocre, and there was a lot of stuff that we tried that remained on the plate.  The only thing good that came out of the whole experience is that there was a “hipermarket” (supermarket) where we got some water.  When we got a taxi to return to the hotel, I made damn sure it had fully operational seatbelts before we started out.

Back at the hotel, we got our gear reorganized for our in-country travels and went to bed for some much needed sleep.  Then at around midnight, Shan woke me up because she wanted to talk about the whole seatbelt thing again, and also to apologize.  This time, at least, it in a more rational manner, and everything was alright by the end.  It took me a while to get back to sleep, but eventually I did.  Still, the alarm came way too early that morning, as we had to catch a 7:00 a.m. shuttle back to the airport for our flight to Belo Horizonte (pronounced Belo Horizonch) and the start of our tour.

Day 3:  Tuesday, June 6, 2006

We found the TAM ticket counter easily and discovered that Brazilians use many bizarre containers for luggage, from large PVC tubes, to simple shrink-wrapped cardboard boxes.  We made it to our gate with plenty of time to spare, and soon found Chuck and Dave, who had arrived from the U.S. earlier that morning.  Our flight to Belo Horizonte went smoothly, and all we had to do was get our luggage and go find our guide, Fabricio Dorileo.  Right behind Chuck and Dave arriving safely, the guide being there to meet us in Belo Horizonte was the final concern I had.  When we left the baggage claim area and Fabricio was right there with a simple hand-made sign, my shoulders finally dropped and I knew that all I had to do from that point on was relax and enjoy the ride.

Fabricio introduced us to Marclei Rocha, our driver for the first handful of days of our trip.  We would soon discover that while driving in Sao Paolo is not for the easily confused, driving in Belo Horizonte (and the rest of the state of Minas Gerais, is not for the easily scared.  Shan and Chuck were a rather frightened by several of the close calls we experienced.  For my part, I treated it like an amusement park ride and enjoyed the near misses.  The driving was pretty crazy, but I’ve experienced worse.  Cyclists in particular seemed to have a death wish, and were often seen riding blindly across streets and between cars.  I even saw a small boy no more than 12 years old hang on to the bumper of a bus as it moved down an extremely busy and dangerous street in Belo Horizonte.

One thing I found interesting was that once in the countryside, if someone was broken down on the side of the road (or more often in the road, since there wasn’t much “side” to the side of the road), they would pull up large clumps of grass and lay them in the road behind them to act as safety cones to warn traffic to merge left and go around them.

After several hours of driving, we turned onto a road that was considerably more quiet.  It was the road to Santuário do Caraça (Caraça Monastery), our destination for the day.  I think everyone, even myself, was glad for the more peaceful conditions.  Along the way we saw our first mammal of the trip, a crab-eating fox (Cerdocyon thous).  No one was quick enough for a picture though.  We saw the santuario first from an overlook on the other side of the valley.  I knew immediately that I was going to fall in love with the place.  It truly looked like a sanctuary, in every positive sense of the word.

When we reached the Santuário and hit the rock paved streets, it was like crossing a boundary into some other time.  I had a feeling that I was going to enjoy the monastery as much as the wildlife.  Fabricio checked us all in, then we went to our rooms.  Our accommodations were Spartan, as you’d expect from a monastery, with two single beds and a private bath.  The only real problem was the lack of heat.  The monastery is pretty high up in the mountains where the temperatures were much cooler than I think any of us expected.  The rooms weren’t heated, so Shan was pretty cold.  

It also took a while for the shower to get hot.  As we would discover, everything is heated by the hearth fire.  All our meals were cooked over a wood-burning stove, and all of our hot water came from the same source, piped throughout the monastery.  After settling in to our rooms, we all met on the grounds in front of our rooms and did a little wildlife watching.  We quickly racked up a dozen or so species before we went in to enjoy a dinner made over that wood-burning stove.  I think everyone else would disagree, but I felt that overall, the meals we had at Caraça were the best of the entire trip, though I don’t discount that perhaps I was infusing the food with my own feelings of general absolute contentment.  At any rate, the meals were simple, but hearty.

After dinner, we went back to our rooms to collect our gear before meeting at the front of the church.  Here, the nightly ritual begins.  About 20 years ago, a Father at the monastery started feeding the maned wolves (Chrysocyon brachyurus) on the front steps of the church.  Every night, food is put out, and the wolves regularly come to enjoy the free meal.  Seeing the maned wolves is one of the main natural attractions of the monastery, and one of the main reasons why we were there too.  

The problem this night was that everyone was really tired from the international flights and the journey to Caraça, so as the evening marched on, one by one, people started dropping off to go to bed.  None of the others even made it to nine o’clock!  Slightly more determined than the rest, I held out until sometime between 9:30 and 10:00 before giving up.  Which is exactly what I did.  Give up.  I had the energy to go on, but doubt had crept into my mind as to whether I actually had a good chance of seeing the wolves.  Disappointed, I went to bed.  The next morning, I would be disappointed in myself, for according to another guest at the monastery who went out after I went to bed, the wolves arrived about 30 minutes after I went to bed.  I vowed not to be so easily discouraged the next night.  For the catch with the wolves is that you never know when they will show up, or even IF they’ll show up (though my understanding now is that they usually do, eventually).

1:00 a.m., 8 June 2006, Santuário do Caraça, Minas Gerais, Brazil

Day 4:  Wednesday, June 7, 2006

Wednesday was a very good day.  We started at 6:30 a.m. at the front of the church and did a little bit of birding near the front of the church before walking a short ways down the hill.  We were only making use of the good light and prime birding time before we could have breakfast at 7:30, so we didn’t go very far.  We saw a few interesting birds, then had a really nice breakfast.  After breakfast, we went on a longer hike.  The plan was to walk down the road to a trail and go birding there.  We did do that, but we saw so many new and beautiful birds just on the road, that it took us well over an hour to walk the half kilometer or so to the trail.  By the time we actually got to the trail, it was late enough in the morning that the birds were not as plentiful.  We ended at a man-made lake called Tanque Grande and relaxed there for a while before starting the return trek.

On the way back, we weren’t seeing much at all when Chuck spotted a robust woodpecker (Campephilus robustus) near the trail.  We watched and photographed it for some time before it finally flew away.  Next, Shan spotted a much less robust white-browed woodpecker (Piculus aurulentus), which was also gorgeous.  Since leaving Tanque Grande, we had been hearing monkeys off in the forest.  When once they sounded quite close, Fabricio, Dave, Shan and I headed up the hill in hot pursuit.  After fighting our way through the thick vegetation crowding a little used trail, we got a fleeting glimpse of a masked titi monkey (Callicebus personatus).  Begrudgingly, we headed back down the hill.  Once back on the main trail, we found Chuck taking pictures of a troop of Masked Titi Monkeys that he’d been watching for some time.  What a punk!  The monkeys were quite a ways up into the trees, but we got some pretty good looks at them.  

It was mid-day at this point, and we were all starting to get hungry, so we walked back to camp, picking up a few new species along the way, feeling really happy about how the day was shaping up.  We saw lots of birds, and our first primate!  

We were late getting back to the monastery for lunch, but there was plenty left for us when we arrived.  We had a couple of hours to kill between the end of lunch and our next hike at 3:30, so we decided to explore the picturesque monastery that we found ourselves so fortunate to be staying at.  Shan and I roamed together, and Chuck and Dave roamed together.  Shan and I wandered in or through just about every place that wasn’t behind a closed door, including the catacombs and an old burned out school building that had been basically enclosed with glass and turned into a museum.  The museum didn’t seem to have an overarching purpose except to display old things.  Though hard to describe, the museum did have some interesting items.  We also wandered around the church itself, admiring the beautiful stained glass and other ornamentation.

At 3:30, we were hiking again, this time on a trail that started from the grounds of the monastery directly.  For quite some distance, the biggest excitement we had was a handful of wolf tracks and a large black spider that looked like a tarantula.  With the near total absence of birds, I was worried that the afternoon hike would prove anti-climatic compared to the morning hike.  That was before Fabricio spotted a family of black tufted-eared marmosets (Callithrix penicillata) in a tree not 3 meters from the trail.  We stayed and photographed the marmosets for quite some time.  While there, we were visited by a gorgeous violet capped woodnymph (Thalurania glaucopis) and a masked yellowthroat (warbler) (Geothlypis aequinoctialis).  Fabricio told us that these Marmosets are endangered and very rare.  It was only the second time he’d ever seen them, so we were extremely lucky to see them.

The marmosets were so oblivious of us that we joked that Fabricio had radioed ahead to have someone release them from a cage for us.  When we returned to the monastery, very happy indeed, we told Fabricio that he could call the monkey-handler to get collect his marmosets again.

We got back to our rooms right at dark and got cleaned up a bit before dinner, yet another meal so good that we all gorged ourselves.  I held back a little bit though, because only Fabricio, Marclei and I knew that birthday cake was on the menu.  The previous day, Fabricio took me aside and told me that he noticed from our fact sheets that Shan’s birthday was June 7th, and wanted to know if it would be ok if he had Marclei go in to town to get a birthday cake for her.  Of course I said that would be fine, and thought it very nice of him to even suggest the idea.

After the main meal, but before Marclei got the birthday cake, Shan kept wanting to get whatever desert they had that evening, but I kept trying to prevent her from going.  She looked at me strangely for doing so, but had no clue what was going on.  When Marclei brought the cake out Shan was extremely surprised and kept thanking me.  I’d remind her that the cake was all Fabricio’s idea and Marclei’s doing, at which point she would thank them again.  Even before we had all gotten our cake, she insisted on sharing the cake with everyone around, which included a handful of other guests and some of the kitchen staff.  It was a very endearing gesture on her part, and an example of one of the reasons why I love her.  Fabricio and Marclei scored a lot of bonus points with Shan, and even more with me.  She’d remarked at how good her birthday had been all day, but the cake was an unexpected (and delicious!) bonus that really topped it all off.

After dinner, we all congregated in the elevated front patio area in front of the church to wait for the maned wolves (Chrysocyon brachyurus) again.  Since it was my last chance, and disappointed in my lack of resolve the previous night, I vowed to stay up much later, indeed all night if necessary, to see the wolves.   The evening started out with quite a few people waiting on another chilly, if not cold, night.  Marclei went inside before nine.  By a little after nine o’clock, Chuck and Dave called it quits.  Not long after, Shan went to bed and Fabricio was the next to drop about 30 minutes later.   That left me and a few folks who weren’t in our group.  By 10:15, I was all by myself, with people occasionally dropping by to check in.  

I moved from the cold steel benches to the front steps of the church, which were equally cold, but a little more sheltered from the breeze.  Not expecting anyplace in Brazil to be cold, I didn’t bring warm enough clothes for sitting out all night, but the blanket Shan brought me helped.  I was still chilled though, not to mention tired.

Shortly before 11:00 p.m., Shan came back out saying she thought she had heard the wolves.  Unfortunately, I had seen neither hide nor hair of the wolves.  Shan wanted to wait with me for them, but also didn’t want to freeze, the main reason for her leaving earlier, but we figured out a way for us to share a blanket and we waited for a while together.   Our combined body heat made me warm enough that I started to nod off a bit.  

When Shan said “There he is!” and I opened my eyes, it took a second for my brain to register the Maned Wolf quietly cresting the top of the stairs.   Since, as explained before, I wasn’t really expecting to get lucky enough to see one, I was only half-prepared for the wolf’s arrival.   I managed to get my wits about me pretty quickly though and started taking pictures while Shan took video.  I had to first switch to taking shots on my camera on   manual focus since the light was so low.  Then I had to switch Shan’s camcorder to night mode for her.   

The wolf grabbed and ate a couple of pieces of chicken, and fairly quickly left.  With all of the fiddling with cameras, we only got a half-dozen shots and a small amount of video footage, which I’d hoped I didn’t wreck with the excited shaking my leg was doing.  (As it turns out, the video was pretty pointless anyway since it was so dark.)  After he disappeared down the stairs, Shan waited with me until midnight to see if he would come back.   He never did, but I decided to wait it out a little bit longer.   I had my laptop with me and worked on this journal to help stay awake.  Approaching two o’clock in the morning, despite the now rather intense feeling of being cold, I could stay awake no longer.  By morning, all of the food left out for the wolves was gone.  They had returned after I went to bed.  But at least I got one, albeit fleeting, look at one of the world’s most endangered animals.  

What a phenomenal day!

I think a few words about the maned wolf (Chrysocyon brachyurus) are in order here.  To begin with, it isn’t truly a wolf, though it is a canid.  It is the only species in the genus Chrysocyon.  The maned wolf reaches a size of about 1.5 meters (5 feet) long and 1 meter (3.3 feet) tall.  Maned wolves do not hunt large prey.  Most of their diet consists of small animals, grass, and fruit, the later of which may constitute up to 60% of their diet at times.  They also prey on, unfortunately, domestic chickens.  And this is where they get into trouble.  

As with all of the natural areas in the world, the Atlantic Rainforest continues to suffer from the encroachment of human beings further and further into the once wild lands.  This puts people and animals into more and more direct conflict with one another.  Few species suffer from this conflict more than the large predators.  The Maned wolf is no exception.  They have been forced into ever smaller pieces of land and thus forced to rely on less resources to survive.  In such a situation, it is all but inevitable that they turn to eating whatever they can, including domestic chickens.  People, naturally not wanting to have all of their chickens killed, then kill the wolves.

The combination of habitat fragmentation and wolf-human conflict has lead to the severe decline of the wolves, leading the IUCN (The World Conservation Union) to declare them as a vulnerable species.  There are only an estimated 2200-4500 wolves left throughout their range, which includes Brazil, northern Argentina, Paraguay, eastern Bolivia and southeastern Peru.

As with most predators, it is believed that they hold a certain supernatural powers, and the maned wolf is no different.  The right eye of the wolves is supposed to bring good luck in gambling, and a child wearing a maned wolf tooth in a necklace is supposedly protected against future dental problems.  The use of body parts for these supernatural purposes also constitutes a threat to their existence.

The wolf has been classified as endangered throughout most of it’s range, and is legally protected in Brazil, though to what effect, I don’t know.

As for the wolf itself, it is primarily a nocturnal animal.  The wolves’ long legs allow them to see better in tall grass, where they are often found, and they can splay their toes to increase the size of their feet and help them walk on marshy ground without sinking in the mud.  Maned wolves are monogamous and defend a shared territory (thought to be usually about 11 square miles in size), but are generally solitary animals except during the mating season.

7:00 p.m., 8 June 2006, Italia Palace Hotel, Ipanema, Minas Gerais, Brazil

Day 5:  Thursday, June 8, 2006

Today wasn’t as spectacular as yesterday, but that’s not terribly surprising given the amount of excitement from yesterday.  Besides that, my day was not made any better by the fact that waiting out in the cold for the Maned Wolves last night was a little too much for my undoubtedly already depressed immune system.  So I spent the day nursing a slight cold.  

Despite not going to bed until after 2:00 a.m. from wolf watching, I still made our 6:30 a.m. meeting time for a short hike around Santuário do Caraça before breakfast.  Shan wisely slept in.  The rest of us saw a dozen or so species of birds in the hour that we walked around, about half of which were new birds for us.

Shan and I arrived at breakfast to find a horde of men there instead of the usual handful of folks.  Apparently a new group had arrived.  With all of the people vying for a small amount of cooking space, it took us longer to eat than usual.  When we got back to our room, I had a little bit of time to get some things packed up before we got back together with Fabricio for another short birding hike before leaving for our next destination, Caratinga Biological Station.  Our second hike of the day netted us another half-dozen or so species, most of which were new, including a couple of amazing hummingbirds.

After returning to the monastery, we quickly packed up and got on the road.  Though not very far in a straight-line from Santuário do Caraça, the drive to Ipanema, near Caratinga Biological Station consumed the rest of the day, arriving too late to do any wildlife viewing.  This was quite unexpected, as I had thought and hoped to be exploring Caratinga Biological Station in the evening.  Though I hate to admit it, I spent most of the six hour drive with my eyes closed in various states of rest, including a little sleep, as I tried to rest and let my body recover.  I was beginning to feel a bit worse, however, and the van ride was altogether not a very pleasant one.  

I did some looking out the window though.  What I saw was quite a bit of agriculture, mostly coffee, but also sugar cane and banana, along with many other crops I couldn’t identify.  Interspersed between the agricultural fields were towns both large and small, and patches of what appeared to be undisturbed forest.  And all of it viewed as we tried to steady ourselves from the near constant side-to-side motion of Marclei deftly and expertly zipping us along the various roads and by-ways to Ipanema.  

In Ipanema, we stayed at the Italia Palace Hotel.  We were given a lovely room with a nice balcony, but Shan was concerned that the double bed would be too small for us, as we both tend to be active sleepers, and Shan is, in her own words, a bed hog.  So at her request, we switched to a room that’s much smaller with two single beds, going on the (correct) belief that we wouldn’t likely be able to kick each other in the middle of the night while separated by two feet of floor.   This measurement should give you an indication of the (lack of) size of our room.  With both single beds pushed up against the walls, there is only two feet between them.  Needless to say, we were a little cramped with all of our gear.

I decided to stay at the hotel and rest while everyone else went to dinner, not because I was feeling too bad to go, but because I wanted to do whatever I could to make sure that I’d be feeling great by morning.  Despite me telling her not to, Shan brought some dinner home for me.  It was really salty, so I didn’t eat much of it though.

8:00 p.m., 14 June 2006, Porta Bello Hotel, Cacares, Mato Grosso, Brazil

Day 6:  Friday, June 9, 2006

When I woke up the next morning, I knew I wasn’t completely well, but I did feel better, and I wasn’t about to stay at the hotel.  After we all had a mediocre breakfast with really sour fresh fruit juice at the hotel, we headed out to Caratinga Biological Station.  Not far out of Ipanema, the road turned to dirt, and we stopped often as we sighted new species.  The road also followed a beautiful river, which Shan was fond of capturing on film, so our progress to Caratinga was slow, but we did eventually make it.

Caratinga Biological Station is a preserve and research station established by Feliciano Miguel Abdala, a former coffee plantation owner.   Mr. Abdala (or Mr. Feliciano as some of the signs called him) came to love the muriqui monkeys (Brachyteles hypoxanthus) that inhabited his land so much that he turned the plantation, which contained large tracts of unspoiled Atlantic Rainforest, into the Preserve.  Biologists now research the muriqui here in hopes of preserving this extremely rare primate.  The muriqui monkey is the largest (up to 12 kilograms or 26.5 pounds) and most endangered primate in South America.  

When we got to the entrance to Caratinga, there was a huge square hole dug into the ground right in the center of the road.  It appeared that plans were afoot to put a cattle guard in, but no provision was made to allow entry in the meantime, though we did notice that there was no fence to the right of the entry way, and it appeared that several vehicles had driven that way.  The problem was that we were in a rather tall, skinny Sprinter van, and the route was essentially along the side of a hill, so it was sloping pretty steeply for the van.  We thought that we might have to get out and walk the rest of the way, but Marclei decided to go for it.  He obviously wasn’t used to driving a vehicle off-road though, because he cut it too close the large wooden pillars that formed the entry way and smacked the top edge of the van on it.  The damage wasn’t too bad, but he obviously wasn’t too happy about it.

Once at the biological station itself, we went for a hike up a small dirt road.  Right off the bat, I got a very brief glimpse at a red-rumped agouti (Dasyprocta agoti), a large rodent about the size of a small house cat.   Many of the species of trees were labeled, which was nice, as Fabricio is really good with his birds and pretty good with mammals, but not so good with plants.  One impressive tree was the Jequitibá (Cariniana legalis), which can grow quite tall.  At one point we took a little side trail to a Jequitibá that had  fallen down in the spring of 2000, and which we could walk across.  The 200 year old tree was 40 meters (130 feet) tall and about 2.16 meters (7.1 feet) in diameter, so it had been, and truly remained, an impressive tree.  By walking along it, one could get a good sense of how important this tree continues to be.

Shan, of course, thriving off drama, had to fall off of it.  I was at the “top” of the tree when I heard a yelp.  When I turned around, Shan had disappeared.  Dave, who was closer, found her first, and I rushed over to make sure she was alright.  She seemed fine, but couldn’t get back up on the tree and required Dave and I to help pull her back up.  At least she didn’t hurt herself badly, as she was at a point where the tree was laying directly on the ground, rather than being suspended in the air.  She made it through the fall with some dirty pants and a slight bruise on her butt.  She’s actually lucky that she didn’t get hurt, as even with the tree lying directly on the ground, it was quite a ways down since she fell off the downhill side.  Dave and I had to reach down below the top of the log to reach up upstretched hand.  She was also lucky that she didn’t break her new camcorder, which she was carrying at the time.  

At the spot where the tree once stood, we learned that this particular tree was the one that Mr. Feliciano liked to tell guests about the forest and the muriqui.  Whether by fate or coincidence, Mr. Feliciano and this tree died within a week of each other.   In honor of both, the Preserve employees planted a new tree to replace the fallen one.  After seven years, it is now about 5 feet tall and is less than 1 inch in diameter.

As for the muriqui, they still struggle.  With only 5% of the Atlantic Rainforest remaining, preserves like Caratinga are crucial for the survival of the species.  The continuing threat to the habitat runs the usual gambit:  urbanization, agriculture, mining, industrial, and general development.  Without strong and immediate protection, the remaining Atlantic rainforest is in grave danger.  They have been reduced from a population of about 400,000 down to less than 1,000 for the southern muriqui, and less than 300 for the northern muriqui, the species in Caratinga.  For this reason, the southern population is considered endangered, and the northern population is considered critically endangered.

On the rest of the hike, we managed to see two more species of primate, the black-capped capuchin (Cebus nigritis), and the brown howler monkey (Alouatta fusca), but no muriqui monkey.   We also saw some interesting insects, including some beautiful butterflies.  While on the hike, we were met by Carlos, a local who lives at the preserve that Douglas is training to be a guide.  He didn’t speak English, so stayed pretty quiet.  He did help supplement Fabricio with some local knowledge though.

At around noon, we returned to the research station, where Marclei had prepared lunch for us.  We found a troop of brown howler monkeys right there at the station, so we tended to alternate between eating and taking pictures of the monkeys.  I still wasn’t feeling well, so didn’t eat much.  Instead, I attempted the frustrating task of taking pictures of a particular species of red butterfly that didn’t like to have its picture taken.

After lunch we walked down the road instead of up, going all the way down to the coffee drying building that we passed on the way in.  We saw more interesting birds and got some great shots of a mother brown howler monkey.  We also stopped at an old mill powered by a water wheel which was quite interesting.  The structure was made of wood, so we thought it amazing that the structure hadn’t been eaten by termites.  We discovered that the building was made from the wood of the tabebuia tree (Tabebuia impetiginosa), which the termites (or can’t) eat, I’m assuming because the wood is so hard.  The wood of the tabebuia tree is the heaviest and hardest wood in the neotropics.  It is so dense, in fact, that the wood of the tabebuia tree sinks in water.

We continued walking down the road towards an old coffee bean processing area.  Along the way we saw more birds and female brown howler monkey with a baby up in a secropia tree.  At the coffee processing area, we wandered around a bit before heading back.   I was really tired, feeling worse than ever, and knew I had already taxed my ailing body further than I should have, but had no choice but to walk back up the hill.  I think everyone else was pretty beat by then as well.

Written 16 June 2006, Rio Cristalino Jungle Lodge, Mato Grosso, Brazil

When we got back to Ipanema, I showered and laid down for a bit to rest.  I had decided to skip going out to dinner again, but at the last minute I decided to go out.  It turned out to be a big mistake.  Even just walking there, I felt light-headed a couple of times.  Then we placed our orders and waited, and waited, and waited for our food.  While waiting there, the manager of Caratinga Biological Station, Antonio, stopped by our table, and Fabricio arranged to have him take us to see the muriqui monkeys the next morning.  Antonio and Marclei also joked with each other about Marclei’s little incident with the van.

By the time our pizza arrived I was really not feeling well.  It was pretty tasty, but I couldn’t even finish a whole piece.  I just picked at it.  Just as Fabricio’s pizza arrived, I decided that I really just needed to go back to the room and rest.  Shan wanted to go with me, so we left everyone at the restaurant.  We tried to find some orange juice and water on the way home, but didn’t have any luck on either account.  We ended up buying a couple of orange drinks at the hotel, but they weren’t very good, and ended up making me feel worse when I drank one the next day.

Day 7:  Saturday, June 10, 2006

I felt better by morning, but knew I was still ill, so hoped to take it easy, and figured I’d be able to relax a bit, as Antonio would be driving us around in his Toyota Hilux.  When we got to Caratinga, the manager wasn’t there and nobody knew where he was.   People were actually worried about him, as he is at the preserve early every single day.  Fabricio decided to lead us on a little hike while we waited for Antonio, and we ended up walking quite a ways, just what I didn’t want to do in my state of health.

When we got back to the research station, there was still no sign of Antonio, so we decided to have an early lunch and get an early start on the long drive to Belo Horizonte.  As we were driving out, here came Antonio.   So we turned around, piled in to his Hilux, and zoomed off, with Dave, Shan and I in the cab and Chuck and Fabricio hanging on to the rollbar in the back.  Antonio was a rather small, but very intense man.  I imagine that he puts all of himself into everything that he does.

As we searched for the muriqui, he would zoom ahead a couple hundred meters and stop the engine to listen, zoom ahead another couple hundred meters and stop the engine to listen.  Occasionally he would get out stride quickly away, listen intensely, and stride quickly back.  One of the times he got out, instead of seeing a muriqui, he found a brown-throated three-toed sloth (Bradypus variegatus).  I was surprised to hear that it was the first three-toed sloth that Fabricio had ever seen, so he was really excited about seeing it.  Unlike the sloths Shan and I saw in Costa Rica, this one was extremely active, at least in sloth terms.  I don’t think sloths have a single twitch muscle in their body.

Sloths are very lethargic animals with a very low metabolism.  They generally stay up in a tree for long periods of time, coming down only once every couple of weeks or so to defecate, often under the same tree.  This is done to help protect them from predators.  If confronted, their extremely long claws can be an effective defense, but they would prefer to remain hidden than fight.  We caught this sloth in the act of switching trees, so he was moving relatively quickly down the tree, which was nice, because he gave us a variety of nice poses.  It was also fascinating to me to see the sloth in motion.  Every move appeared planned to conserve energy and each was as if in slow motion.  I liken it to a slow-motion monkey.  Its movement was picture of a dance, full of grace and composure.  Since sloths have been known to sleep up to 20 hours a day, we were extremely lucky to see this dance.

We stayed with the sloth for quite a while, but eventually (and reluctantly) renewed our search for the muriqui, with the understanding that we would come back to the sloth later.  We drove past the point where we had hiked the previous day, and kept going quite some distance, all a couple hundred meters at a time.  Eventually, we turned off of the “main” road and went through a closed gate onto a smaller four-wheel drive road.  Antonio hardly slowed down on the rougher road, and Chuck and Fabricio were hanging on for dear life, occasionally having to duck under some low branches.  Chuck was having the time of his life.  All of the excitement boosted my adrenaline levels as well, to the point where I was temporarily feeling much better.  

We ended up at the top of a large hill near the western property boundary of the preserve.  There was a wooden observation tower there that we climbed up to scan for the muriqui.  From the tower, we had an excellent vantage point to see about half of the preserve.  Though quite large, it is still a very small piece of land to try to preserve the largest monkey in the Americas.

Unable to locate the muriqui from the tower, we drove back the way we came and went to the other half of the park, stopping briefly to watch the sloth in the new tree it had selected.  Then we zoomed off again, in no way mimicking the sloth.  We ended up going through a couple more gates down a road that didn’t look as though it had been driven on in some time.  At the end, Antonio got out and Shan noticed a beautiful butterfly out her window.  When she got out to take a picture of it, it flew away, so we both got out to try to track it down.  Just as I was about to take a shot I heard Shan behind me scream, “I’m being attacked!  Get them off me!” and turned to see her jumping around like she was having convulsions.

Shan has a tendency for the melodramatic response.  She also often thinks that bugs are attacking her when in fact what’s on her is an olive, a piece of dead skin, a hair, etc.  So I have to be honest and say that my first reaction was that she was freaking out about nothing.  When she started smacking at her ankles, and Dave, who was closest, started to help smack at her ankles, I thought, “Uh oh, she really did get into something.”  So I ran over to her and found her legs covered in ants.  She had stopped to take a picture and had been standing right on top of an ant colony.  It was now a very angry ant colony.

I got her seated in the truck, and we took off her boots and socks, then rolled up her pant legs as we swiped, beat, and smashed hundreds of ants off of her.  A number of them had gotten quite a ways up her legs, so it took some time to get them all without having her strip her pants off.  While she worked on her legs, I went through her socks and shoes and picked all of the ants off of them.  Dave helped with the boots as well.  Eventually we got them all, but the bites ended up being a source of discomfort and pain for her for over a week.

With that bit of excitement over, we headed back to the research station, defeated in our search for the muriqui, but happier knowing that we had at least given it a good effort.  Later, in a better state of health, I became more disappointed that we hadn’t seen the muriqui.  

As we drove back, everyone got a good laugh out of Chuck teasing Shan for being a drama queen, and how she stepped in the ant hill because she wasn’t getting enough attention.  

Back at the research station, Antonio gave us some cool “Extinção se Para Sempre” (Extinction  is  Forever) stickers and we each bought a “Sounds of Caratinga” CD, with natural sounds of the forest, the proceeds of which go to the research station. After leaving Caratinga, we had a long and arduous trek back to Belo Horizonte.  We had a grueling, and sometimes harrowing six hour drive before we arrived safely at our hotel in Belo Horizonte.  I was feeling really bad by that point, and once again opted to rest instead of going to dinner.  This time, thinking that dinner would involve getting back in the van to go somewhere, Shan opted to skip dinner as well.  They ended up eating right there in the hotel.  To hear Chuck tell the tale later, it was the most sumptuous meal of them all, as the hotel was a four star hotel and had the restaurant to match.

Even though I needed to re-organize gear for our flight in the morning, I opted for sleep.  Before going to dinner, Chuck came over to our room to check up on me.  Since Shan’s hands can’t be used to determine the presence of a fever since they are always cold, he confirmed that I was running a high fever but believed that to be a good sign that my body was breaking through the illness.  Chuck was extremely helpful while I was sick, not only by helping me directly, but also in helping to calm Shan down, who tends to worry too much, especially where my health is involved.

Secretly (as I found out later), Chuck was extremely concerned about my state of ill health and that night discussed plans with Dave for ending the trip early and getting me back to the U.S. if I wasn’t better by morning.  They say that good friends are hard to find.  I have to disagree.  I’ve got a whole bunch of them.  Thankfully, Chuck never had to put whatever plans he thought up into action.

Day 8:  Sunday, June 11, 2006

After going to bed early, I got a good nights sleep, and woke up feeling much better.  Tentatively, I thought that perhaps I might have whipped whatever it was that ailed me.  Still, I had to skip breakfast in order to do the packing that I opted not to do the night before.  Chuck and Dave got some food from the hotel breakfast though, and I had that.  I even had somewhat of an appetite for it.  I’d hardly eaten a thing for days, so probably really needed some nourishment and calories.

4:00 a.m., Sao Paolo time, 25 June 2006, en route to Houston, Texas, USA

We spent most of the day traveling from Belo Horizonte to the Hotel Baizinha in the Pantanal.  Most of the journey was rather uneventful, and even the part that could have been more eventful wasn’t for me because I spent most of the drive from Cuiabá to Cáceres with my eyes closed trying to get a little more rest to aid my recovery from whatever bug I got.

Relaxing on the two plus hour drive wasn’t easy.  Much of the road was good, but randomly located along the road would be stretches of pavement that were horribly potholed.  The further we got from Cuiabá, the more frequent and more severe the potholes became, slowing us down considerably.  We arrived in Cáceres and the Rio Paraguai (Paraguay River) at around four o’clock, which was later than planned.  We still had a two-hour boat ride ahead of us.  As soon as we got to the boat ramp, I headed to the restroom, and by the time I got out, nearly all of my bags had already been wrapped in plastic bags due too the threat of rain and had been loaded on the boat, so I couldn’t get my warm clothes out from my bag.  I probably should have taken the time to find my bag and get my warm clothes, but it was already getting pretty late in the day, and I didn’t want to put us further behind schedule.

The boat was an open cockpit bass-type boat, and traveling at high speed down the river to the hotel would prove to be a chilly experience.  I wasn’t horribly cold, but I was concerned that stressing my body might allow the virus that I was beating to get a second wind.  Shan was certainly colder than I, despite having warmer clothes.  She ended up using the rain gear provided on the boat to help shield her from the wind.  I eventually did the same, at about the same time that I had Shan sit down on the floor of the boat to get her down out of the wind, which helped her out a lot.

The boat ride itself was pretty interesting.  The first part of the journey was through a populated area and we passed many people fishing in the river.  Many of the people were living in run-down shacks near the banks of the river.  It felt mildly awkward to be racing by them in our relatively nice boat.  A number of folks waved as we went by though, so apparently they didn’t feel the same way.  Our boat driver, whose nickname was Indio because he was Indian, took us through what I suspect were some short-cuts, as I know that the Rio Paraguai is navigable by large boats, and there were short sections where he had to slow down because the river was shallow and he had to be careful not to damage the prop on the boat.  When we returned to the main river channel, he let the boat fly.  We continued on as the sun set and darkness descended.  Before dark, we passed an old ranch, which momentarily got our hopes up.

After an hour and a half or so, it was pretty dark, and when we saw a light ahead of us, we thought it was finally the hotel.  It turned out to be a barge carrying soybeans down river to Argentina.  We then began to think that we would never arrive at the hotel, but not long after the barge, we saw a red beacon that the lodge had erected.  The lodge was definitely a welcome sight!

Johnny and another member of the hotel staff was at the dock when we pulled up, awaiting our arrival.  As we were getting out of the boat, Shan almost fell over backwards out of the boat.  Fortunately, Johnny caught her arm and steadied her, but the drama queen had made her point, “Pay attention to ME!!”  

At the hotel, we met Lucia, who I think is the owner of the hotel, or at least plays a big part in it.  The hotel was really nice, and it turned out that we were the only guests there.  We would remain the only guests during our entire stay there.  It was like having our own private resort.   The rooms were basic, but quite nice, and very spacious.  Like many hotels in Brazil, the shower was the heated showerhead kind that Shan discovered she wasn’t too fond of.  In order to get a really hot shower, it is usually necessary to reduce the flow of water so that the in-head heater can keep up.

After we had settled in, we joined everyone in the common area for our first bowl of piranha soup, which is salty, but very good.  We had piranha soup every evening before dinner, and we missed it when we finally moved from Hotel Baizinha.  We were attended to by Johnny, who provided us perhaps the best service I have ever received.  He was always there to make sure we had a drink if we wanted one, or to take away used glasses, plates, etc.  

Before arriving in the Pantanal, Fabricio warned us that our chances of seeing jaguar were not as high as they would normally be this time of year, because the water level in the river was higher than normal, reducing the number and size of beaches, where jaguar like to hunt.  As we boated to Hotel Baizinha, he noted that the water level had dropped quite a bit in recent weeks, which meant for better conditions for spotting jaguar.  One can never be assured of seeing jaguar in the wild (far from it!), but our hopes were raised a bit by the lower than expected water level.

After chatting over piranha soup, we moved into the dinning room for a delicious dinner.  Fresh fish was served almost every night, and the food was delicious, even if often slightly too salty for my tastes.  After dinner, we retired to our rooms to rest and get ready to experience the wonderful world of the Pantanal.

Day 9:  Monday, June 12, 2006

We started our day with a nice breakfast before returning to the river for our first day truly exploring the Pantanal.  We saw so many species that first day that I could scarcely write them down fast enough to keep up.  We saw 48 species all before lunch!  One of my favorites, and something that remained a fascination for me, were the anhingas (Anhinga anhinga).  There may be many who think they are too plain or too common to put much stock in, but I enjoyed every sighting of them, especially when they were perched with their wings outspread to either warm up or dry off.  Anhingas don’t have oil on their feathers so they need to spread their wings out to dry off after swimming to catch a fish or other prey.  Other favorites included the roseate spoonbill and the amazon kingfisher.  It was mid-morning before we saw our first pantanal caiman (Caiman yacare).  We watched for quite a while, not realizing how many we would end up seeing in the Pantanal.

While watching the caiman, which let us get much closer to it than I imagined it would, Chuck joked that he wanted to catch it.  I told him to just jump on it!  Heck, it was only about 2 meters long!  Fabricio had a good laugh and said, “You want to catch one?” then said something in Portuguese to Indio, who laughed and nodded his head.

We continued on, seeing quite a few more caiman on an isolated little patch of sand surrounded by water.  Indio then got the rope used to tie the boat off, made a lasso, and right before our eyes, caught a fairly mid-sized caiman!  We were all kind of in shock that he’d actually gone and caught a caiman, as we were largely joking about wanting to catch one.  Later, Fabricio said that he had never caught one before, and implied that we got to only because Chuck and Dave are wildlife biologists.  Besides Indio, who brought in on board the boat, Chuck was the only one who really held the caiman, though we all touched it.  It’s skin was kind of rubbery, I thought.  It was quite an experience!

Later we found a very young caiman walking on a beach as we were looking at a troupial.  As we looked for the bird, the caiman hid in some bushes near the boat.  After the bird flew off, Indio dove out of the boat like superman and caught the caiman with his bare hands!  We were riding around with the real-world Crocodile Dundee or Jim Irwin here!  This one, all of us but Shannon held, which she regrets a little I think.  At the time, she was afraid that she wouldn’t be strong enough to hold it.  

This little guy had a fat leech on it’s belly, and Shan wanted to remove it.  None of us thought we would be able to just pull it off, but she was insistent, so Indio got a pair of pliers out of a tool box and gave them to me.  I grabbed the leech with the pliers and surprisingly, was able to remove the leech from the caiman.  Indio then pointed out that the caiman had a bunch of baby leeches in its mouth.  Figuring I’d gone this far, I figured what the hell.  Indio put a piece of metal in the caimans mouth so it couldn’t bite, and I carefully tried to pluck the leeches out.  Unfortunately, they were so small and slippery that I couldn’t grab on to them with the blunt pliers.  If I’d had needle nose pliers, I probably could have rid the caiman of the pests, but alas, we ended up releasing the caiman with only one less leech to contend with.

We cruised around in the boat all morning, sometimes quickly, sometimes slowly, and always with a sense of awe.  I became even more awestruck when I thought of just how extensive the Pantanal is, extending south all the way to Campo Grande.  At 54,000 hectares, or 140,000 square miles, the Pantanal is the largest freshwater wetland in the world.  One thing that surprised me was how swiftly the Rio Paraguai was flowing, or rather, that it was flowing at all.  The north-south slope of the region (the river flows from north to south) is only about 1-2 cm per kilometer!  That’s about one inch per mile for you non-metric fluent folks.  I suspect that the only reason it flows as it does is because there is always more water pushing the rest of the water down slope.  

While cruising around, we found a bare-eared marmoset (Callithrix argentata), which was a rare and cool sight to see, even though we were quite some distance from it.

A couple of times, we passed a peixcadore (not sure how that’s spelled), or a local fisherman.  They would be paddling a small wooden boat.   I never specifically looked, but I never noticed any fish in the boats, even though fish seemed to be abundant.  Perhaps we saw them as they were paddling out to their preferred fishing locations.

At some point during the morning, Shan’s camcorder died, and when she swapped one of the spare batteries in it, that too was dead.  When she looked for the third battery, it wasn’t in the case.  I thought that it must be back at the hotel, then soon had the realization of dread that I may have accidentally left it (via the charger) plugged in to the wall at the Italia Palace Hotel way back in Ipanema.  If so, we’d be in a really bad position video-wise.

We returned to the hotel for lunch, and before we were within a quarter mile of the hotel, Johnny was out there to meet us.    Before lunch I tore our baggage apart looking for the camcorder battery charger and third battery, but didn’t find them.  We had some time off in the afternoon, so I watched the US soccer team lose to the Czech Republic in the World Cup.  It was an embarrassing loss surrounded by Brazilians.  After the game, we hung around the hotel, and checked out some of the souvenirs they had in their small gift shop. We ended up buying a pretty cool ceramic monkey head and paws for a mere R$30, or about US$15.  That evening, we went out again, adding 18 new species of bird to the days tally.  Our afternoon outing included a stop at a local ranch, where we got a great look at the hyacinth macaws (Anodorhynchus hyacinthinus) that frequent the area, as well as greater rheas (Rhea americana), the largest bird in South America.  It is similar to an ostrich, though not as large.  We also saw some beautiful parrots.

The hyacinth macaws were a phenomenal site.  I was amazed at how large they are.  Not including the tail (which is sizeable in and of itself), the hyacinth macaw can reach heights of 100cm (39 inches) tall, with a wingspan of more than 127 cm (more than 4 feet).  Once widely distributed throughout Brazil, Bolivia and Paraguay, the hyacinth macaw is now restricted to a few areas, and the wild population is estimated to be only 2500-5000 individuals.  It is estimated that as many as 100,000 hyacinth macaws once flew across South America.

Once again, we find habitat destruction as a major cause of species decline, but the hyacinth macaw also has to deal with the pet trade.  There is evidence that perhaps as many as 10,000 hyacinth macaws captured and taken out of the wild to be turned into pets during the 1980s alone.  Selling for $8,000-10,000 a piece, it’s not hard to understand why locals would resort to almost any means necessary to capture them, including cutting down the nest tree to get at young macaws.  Surprisingly, many of the birds never made it out of the country.  About half of the birds caught in Brazil were purchased by other Brazilians.  But smuggling hyacinth macaws and other tropical birds out of the tropics is still a huge problem.  In the time period from the mid-80s to the mid-90s, an estimated 8.5 MILLION birds were smuggled into the United States alone, constituting about 85% of the total illegal, bird trade.  Yet another threat comes in the form of a Trojan horse.  Tourism, which is supposed to be a non-destructive way for the local people to make money from the environment around them, can be a destructive force as well.  Some Indian tribes have started making arts and crafts out of the feathers of tropical birds, creating another extinction pressure on them.

Chuck found it very interesting that we just walked onto the property even though Fabricio said we really didn’t have explicit permission to do so.  Fabricio made it sound pretty ordinary to do so in the Pantanal.  I suspect the area sees so few people that the locals aren’t particularly concerned about trespassers.

The day ended with a gorgeous sunset, a nice finale to a phenomenal day.   As a measure of the abundance and beauty of the Pantanal, I ended up taking over 600 pictures with my SLR alone.  On the day, I had 61 new species of bird.

9:00 a.m., en route to Tucson from Houston, Texas, USA

Day 10:  Tueday, June 13, 2006

We had a change from our usual six a.m. breakfast and 6:30 a.m. start time as we had a lot of miles to cover for the day.  This time we started at 5:30 to get down the river.  Our primary target for the day was the elusive Panthera onca, the jaguar, and to achieve our goal, we traveled down stream to the Taiama Reserve, run by IBAMA, which from what I gather is equivalent to the National Parks Service.  As we continued down river, the water level had not dropped as much as near Hotel Baizinha, I surmised because the watershed was still draining, so there was some concern about being able to see a jaguar.  We had an ace in the hole though.  Due to the great distance we had to travel that day, we were scheduled to be gone all day, probably not returning until dinner time.  However, Brazil was playing Croatia in the World Cup at three o’clock that afternoon.  We told Fabricio and Indio that if they found us a jaguar, we would return to the hotel in time for them to watch the game. 

One of our early sights was a black-fronted nunbird, which turned into a mildly comical situation.  None of us could quite understand what Fabricio was saying, but wrote down the name of the bird as we thought he said it.  Comparing notes later, I had written down “thumb-bird” and Chuck had written down “numb-bird”.  Perhaps Dave, the most knowledgeable birder among us, got it right.

We traveled quickly, stopping occasionally to talk to a Pantaniero or someone on a houseboat to see if they had seen any jaguar.  The Pantaniero that we had spoken with the previous day said he regularly sees one right at his shack, and that it was there last night, but couldn't help us locate one at present.

When we reached the Taiama Reserve, we found the water level to be quite high, with absolutely no beaches in the area we were in.  Even though the area looked like it was completely flat, we were surprised by the rather strong currents in the open areas between the vegetation.  When combined with the narrow confines of the open channels, the currents allowed Indio to prove his fantastic boating skills.  The area was largely devoid of large trees, and was composed primarily of low aquatic vegetation as far as the eye could see.  We found a few birds, but little else.  Then we saw a capybara (Hydrochaeris hydrochaeris) in the thick water plants, which was a nice treat.   We would eventually see a fair number of capybara throughout the day.  

Capybaras are the largest rodents in the world, weighing in at up to 65 kg (140 lbs).  At that size, capybara is nice jaguar food, as are many things of course, even the caiman.  One of the few things the jaguar don’t eat are the brazilian tapirs (Tapirus terrestris), which at 300 kg (660 pounds) are so large and maniacal that when a jaguar jumps on a tapirs back, the tapir will take off like mad through the bush, eventually throwing the jaguar off.

It was pretty obvious that we weren’t going to see much in the area we found ourselves in, so we motored back out to the river, with Indio whipping the boat through the narrow, twisting channel at thrilling speed.  As we reached the preserve boundary, we encountered a handful of fishing boats just inside the preserve boundary.  It’s illegal to fish within Taiama, and when we came screaming around the corner, the fisherman thought we were law enforcement and started scattering.  We didn’t realize exactly what was going on at the time, but when Fabricio explained why they were moving away from us, we all thought it was pretty funny.   Too bad we didn’t have a way to scare them a little more.

5:30 p.m., Tucson, Arizona, USA

We continued down the river, stopping here and there to investigate something interesting.  We saw plenty of Capybara, and also some giant water lilies (Victoria amazonica, or something similar).  By late morning, we still didn't have our jaguar, and I didn't really hold out much hope.  Shan too, that beacon of optimism that we would see one, also admitted that she didn't think we had a chance once she saw how high the water level was and as a result, how thickly vegetated the shore was.

Still we contented ourselves with the search, and I further contented myself with amazement at the vastness and beauty of the Pantanal.  It seemed unending, though I knew it wasn’t, and even then realized how quickly it could all be destroyed if enough people didn’t realize it’s value in it’s natural state.  It wasn’t long ago that a massive plan was hatched to increase the navigability of Rio Paraguai.  The changes would surely have destroyed vast stretches of the Pantanal, as it would have severely reduced the amount of overland flooding that takes place and breathes life into the far reaches of the Pantanal, cutting off the natural cycle that created this natural wonder.  This plan is apparently still not entirely dead, and those of us concerned about such things must remain diligent in preventing the plan from coming back to life.

As noon approached, we started looking for a beach where we could eat lunch.  I was pretty hungry by that point, so was disappointed when we passed several "beaches" that, though small, I thought would have sufficed.  But we motored on at a pretty good clip through the myriad waterways that is the Pantanal in high times.  How Indio knew where to go was totally beyond me.  And though I probably could have gotten us back to the hotel, I was sure happy that I wouldn’t have to try!

We rounded a bend a raced down a straight stretch when my eyes spotted the unmistakable spotted form of a jaguar (Panthera onca) lying low in the shoreline vegetation looking out over the water.  I made to yell out and alert everyone of the discovery, but Indio was already in the process of spinning the boat around and Chuck and Dave were already reaching for their cameras.   I whipped my head around to lengthen my viewing time of the jaguar but the momentum of the boat quickly drug us out of sight.

I knew that by the time we spun around and made it back to where the jaguar was, the wake of the boat would have smashed into the shore and sent the jaguar fleeing into the impenetrable (to me) vegetation.  I think we all may have shared that same fear:  our prized moment would be a fleeting one, as it most often is.

Perhaps bound by our extreme hope, but more likely out of sheer cat curiosity, the jaguar was still there when we returned, ducking low below the vegetation to get a less obstructed view of us as we approached.  He made no hint at running and only craned his head as we drifted through his world, as if as transfixed by us as we were of him.

Certainly, in the expression of camera shutters clacking away, we were locked into that gaze.  If not the eyes, then the spots, then eyes again.  Indeed, I became so focused on the jaguar itself that I never once thought about the photos I was taking.  It was just an extension of my eyes, capturing a moment that I knew could bolt away at any time.  

For this reason, as well as the overwhelming adrenaline coursing through my body, I never once thought about the settings I was using on my camera.  I'd had it set up for taking pictures of birds and Capybara in open sun.  It was only by the grace of having a phenomenal lens that I got any decent pictures at all.  Still, some came out pretty blurry.  Another fundamental thought that would have been a great mental leap for me at the time was to zoom out and get a full body shot of him.  At some point he rose and paced through the underbrush sizing us up, yet I kept focusing on his eyes.  

Only after he had returned to the small clearing and stood with head and shoulders into the thick vegetation did the thought take hold.  Looking back, it seems almost an intentional act on his part.  When he stood with his head in the brush, he didn't appear to be looking at us, so I have no explanation for why he stopped if not to say to me, "Look, there's more to me than meeting my eyes."

After a few moments there, he ducked down and slid off into the vast Pantanal.  When, after a few silent moments, we were pretty certain the jaguar was not going to return for an encore, we congratulated ourselves with high-fives and back-slaps, as though we had won something through some monumental effort of our own doing.  In truth, we had indeed won something.  By the simple act of doggedly pursuing that one piece of the Pantanal, we had won a short but profound look into the eyes of Nature herself.  Whole worlds float in the flecks of a jaguar’s eyes, and we were close enough to see those worlds.

I often wonder if we might have been blessed enough to see another jaguar that day if we'd continued to explore the area, but we were true to our word, and raced home, with a little time to spare, to watch Brazil play Croatia in World Cup Play.  Even I was somewhat torn between those two quintessentially Brazilian experiences.

Along the way, we stopped a few times, when we came across something relatively rare, but otherwise, it was a race against time.  We did make one other stop of note.  Shan, whose bladder proved to be far more resilient than usual, finally could resist no more.  There aren't a whole lot of places for a lady to relieve herself in the Pantanal when the waters are high.  Those few pieces of relatively open ground are often places where animals such as caiman like to take up residence.

So it was with a certain amount of both fear and amusement that we motored up to a small nearly isolated patch of sand, evicting several caiman, and dropped Shan off to do Nature's business, with those same caiman still floating not too far from shore.  I was moderately surprised that she stepped off the boat, but when you've got to go, you've got to go.

Once off the boat, we backed away and motored around the corner out of sight, though hopefully not out of earshot.  We did our business over the side of the boat and returned to pick Shan up, we hoped whole and unharmed.  When we rounded the corner, she was standing there eagerly awaiting our return.  While we were gone, she had a bit of a scare.  As she was peeing, she heard a woofing sound behind her.  She thought it was a jaguar, but it was actually a caiman hiding nearby in vegetation.  It was likely just making sure she knew he was there.

Though I joke, to defend my status as a good husband, I really didn't feel as though Shan was in any danger when we dropped her off.  The caiman in the Pantanal are neither all that large nor very aggressive, and they are not known for attacking humans.

We also stopped in at a small settlement of sorts on the main river so that Indio could fill the boat up with gas from the large fuel container he brought with us.  Apparently, the settlement was part of an old ranch operation, complete with a slaughterhouse.  It also had a neat little chapel nearby.  It was quite a picturesque setting (with the exception of the slaughterhouse).  We wandered around a bit and took pictures while Indio gassed the boat up, thinking that the place was completely deserted.  But as we wandered around, someone came out of the large but decrepit house and started chatting with Indio.

We made it back to Hotel Baizinha in time for the futbol game, and happily watched Brazil beat Croatia. I had expected everyone to be crowded around the television in the recreation area, so was surprised when it was only Chuck, Dave, Fabricio, Johnny and I there.  Fabricio said they were watching the game on another television somewhere.  I had hoped that everyone would be watching in the rec area to increase the sense of spirit of it all.  I hope they didn't feel as though they had to watch someplace else away from us guests.

Towards the end of the game, Chuck lost interest and started wandering around.  After the game, he located a pair of scarlet macaws (Ara macao) in a large tree some distance from the hotel.  Shan wanted to go and get a closer look at them.  I felt like being lazy, but got my camera gear and went with her.  Fabricio came too, wearing only his flip-flops.  I kept telling him he didn't have to come with us, especially when we got to a boggy section of the field we had to cross, but he did anyway.  By then he must have known that Shan was likely to find some trouble and that he might be needed to get her out of it.

When we got to the macaw the sunlight was fading quickly, but I got a great look at them.  Ironically the reddish evening sunlight, normally a photographers dream, gave the already red macaws an indistinct look.

That evening we had more piranha soup before dinner, and after dinner hung out in the recreation area and played pool, ping pong, or just chatted.

Day 11:  Wednesday, June 14, 2006

With half a day of travel towards our next destination in the Amazon ahead of us that afternoon we stayed closer to home on Wednesday, largely covering areas we'd already been.  That doesn't mean we didn't see new things though.  Nor does it mean that we didn't have some excitement.  At one point in the morning, we were all intently watching a group of caimans, including some rather large ones, when I looked down in the water and noticed that there was an arraia (a freshwater stringray) right next to the boat!

But the real excitement came as we caught our third, and largest, caiman.  It was about seven feet long, nearly as large as any caiman we'd seen.  Indio noosed it, somehow getting the rope around the body just in front of the hind legs, which left the dangerous mouth still free to roam.  He needed some assistance, and Fabricio asked who wanted to help.  

Figuring Chuck would jump at the chance, I held my tongue, though I desperately wanted to take part.  When Chuck didn’t pipe up, I stepped forward.  Eventually, with minor assistance from me, Indio got the mouth roped shut and taken care of then got another rope around the back end.  Together the two of us hoisted it onboard, with me now at the more dangerous end, that being the tail end.  The very powerful tail can certainly inflict harm on anyone unlucky (perhaps foolish?) enough to get hit by it, so I stayed out of its potential path and kept a close eye on it.  The caiman probably weighed a good 100 pounds or so.  Once on board he was quite docile, except for one quick head jerk back towards me.  This one, no one tried to pet though.  Each of us knew that this was a different animal than the ones we’d caught the first day in the Pantanal.  Releasing it was more of a challenge than catching it.  The knots Indio had tied didn’t want to release, so we ended up cutting one of them off.  The caiman patiently waited for us to release it, and as the last knot was cut it flailed into the water, thrashing violently.  It smacked the boat with its powerful tail.  The loud sound of it was a not-so-gentle reminder of the power we’d had with us in the boat.  Still, I never felt as though either we, nor any of the caiman were in any danger or pain.  Overall, I was surprised by how everything we caught, both the caimans and the fish, struggled so little once caught.

Day 12:  Thursday, June 15, 2006

On Thursday we woke early to continue our trip back to Cuiabá, where we would catch our flight to Alta Floresta and the Amazon.  The reason for us leaving early was to have some time in Cuiabá to try to find a power adaptor for the camcorder.  

Along the way we saw a jaguarundi run across the road ahead of us.  It was such a brief encounter that if it weren't for the distinctiveness of the jaguarundis form, I would never have known what it was.

I got great amusement from Shan on the way as well.  The driver kept spitting out the window, and part of it kept blowing back in the van and hitting Shan.  (Don't worry, that's not the funny part, even I'm not that sadistic.)  Anyway, Shan was really anxious to get to Cuiabá to look for the camcorder charger, and the driver seemed to be going slower than he could have gone, so she wasn't happy with him to begin with, and the whole spit thing really bent her out of shape.  I tried to calm her down a bit, as it seemed clear that the driver had no clue what was happening, but the fact remained that she kept getting hit with spit.  

After a while, (and this is the funny part) every time the driver even cleared his throat, Shan dove for the deck like she'd just heard a mortar round coming at her.  I couldn't help but laugh every time it happened, and even Shan I think eventually saw the humor in it.

Eventually we did make it to Cuiabá, which made Shan happy.  Unfortunately, it was a holiday, so our options for finding a charger were limited.  Fabricio took us to a market that he knew of where "you can get anything," but we didn't have any luck there.  We then went to a photo shop, but it ended up being a photo developing place.  We continued on to another market, similar to the first, with many vendors in stalls in a big building.  

At first it looked like we weren't going to have any luck at all.  Then Shan came back with a lead.  We hurried to a stall where someone had camcorders.  They didn't have any Canon products at all though, and they had no chargers by themselves.  Desperate, and wanting to right the wrong I did, I thought about just buying a camcorder to use for the rest of the trip, which I could sell upon returning to the US so I wouldn't take such a huge loss.  They even had a Sony camcorder, albeit without documentation, that I had researched and new the value of, so I asked how much it was.  

The man said it was R$1200, or roughly US$600.  I could buy the same camcorder new for under US$300 at almost any store in the US.  I would have taken a real beating on it had Shan said she wanted it.  Even as much as she wanted her camcorder, she wasn't willing to spend that much money.  So we continued on in search of a simple charger that would work.

Just as we were running out of time to get to the airport, and just as I was about to call it quits, I saw something that looked promising.  It was a universal adaptor with adjustable settings.  The vendor had them in car charger and wall charger models.  The voltage settings weren't exactly what the camera called for, but we tried both and they seemed to work!  With them plugged them in, the charging light blinked and I could power the camera on.  I even unplugged the camera and powered the camera on from the battery briefly just to be certain.  I was elated with this success.  So I happily bought the wall charger and we went to the airport.

Later that day after we arrived at the Rio Cristalino Jungle Lodge, I plugged the camcorder into the wall and notice that the battery charge light seems to be blinking rather quickly.  I check the manual, and the battery isn't accepting the charge.  I fiddle with it.  I try the other battery.  I unplug it and try to turn the camera on.  It doesn't work.  I plug it back in and turn the camera on.  It powers up just fine.  The charger ended up being close enough to the right voltage to run the camera, but not close enough to charge the batteries.  Apparently, back in Cuiabá, the battery had just enough charge in it to power the camera for a few seconds as I tested it.  So despite my best efforts to correct the problem, without a very long extension cord, I was defeated.  The camcorder became nothing more than an expensive and somewhat fragile consumer of precious luggage space.

Going back to Cuiabá. . .  We made it to the airport, as it turns out, with more time to spare than we wish we'd had.  We had a couple of small scares at the airport though.  Our flight to Alta Floresta, though booked through TAM, was operated by Tryp Airline.  So while Chuck, Dave, Shan and I got our tickets at the TAM ticket counter, Fabricio had to get his at the Tryp ticket counter.  The first scare was that Tryp Airline overbooked the flight and bumped Fabricio from the flight.  He had to argue that he was escorting tourists to Alta Floresta and eventually Tryp bumped someone else.  My guess is that he told them stories about Shan’s mishaps and was thus able to convince them that we’d all die if he weren’t there to take care of us.  With our flight leaving soon, we got in the long line to go through security, a bit concerned that the line might not move fast enough for us to make our flight (scare #2).  

The next scare occurred when Shan and I tried to go through security and our tickets wouldn't scan.  At this point, our flight was due to leave very shortly.  Fabricio grabbed our tickets and went back to the Tam ticket counter.  He returned shortly with fixed tickets, saving the day once again!

Then we got to the crux of the statement I made earlier about getting to the airport too early, for we found ourselves stuck in a crowded, hot, muggy room with our plane nowhere in sight.  I’m sure the wait wasn’t nearly as long as it seemed to be, but in any case, except for the company we kept, it wasn't a pleasant wait.

When the plane arrived and we were allowed to board, we walked out onto the tarmac and found that our transport would be a twin engine propeller plane, albeit a rather large one.  I thought it was pretty cool, but wondered at Chuck's feelings on the matter.  One of his great fears during the planning stages of the trip was about the aircraft we would be flying in.  Chuck isn't fond of smaller aircraft, probably especially in South American countries.

The plane that sat before us was not a tiny "bug smasher," but it was no giant either, seating perhaps forty people.  Forty very closely spaced people, I might add.  When we boarded, we discovered that the seating was far from capacious.  Our carry-on bags weren't even all that close to being able to fit in the overhead bins, so with no small amount of concern, I turned over my bag containing thousands of dollars in photo equipment to the very nice flight attendant, hoping that she understood that we were going all the way to Alta Floresta and not getting off in Sinop.

The flight itself offered a glimpse at a sad state of affairs in Brazil.  We saw miles upon miles, not of trees, but of various agricultural fields.  These were huge fields, sometimes bordered by patches of trees (usually along rivers or streams), but often existing in a James Joyce no punctuation fashion to some absurd limit.  Often patches of remaining forest could be located by huge columns of smoke rising up from them, harbingers of the slash and burn agriculture made infamous in Brazil.  

What's worse, from a personal standpoint, is that I was more clearly implicated in taking a part in the destruction than I ever could have imagined, by the bringing together of two pieces of the puzzle.  In the Pantanal, we saw the huge barges carrying soy beans from Brazil to Argentina and learned that Brazil is the largest exporter of soy, but we saw no crops.  From the plane, the source of the soy lay as bare as the ground itself.

As a vegetarian, I consume quite a bit of soy, out of convenience as much as necessity.  Now I could see the patch of rainforest that went under to the blade and torch for me.  It was an important reminder that everything comes from somewhere and carries with it certain hidden costs.  This simple fact is easy to lose sight of when everything you get comes from off a shelf.  And in the shell game that is the current global economy, those hidden costs are obscene.  

My only consolation was that as a vegetarian, at least those soybeans I ate consumed far less land than the cattle would have if I ate them.  Still, the recollection of that sight continually reinforces my resolve to do what I can to minimize the impact I have on this big, beautiful earth.

Our flight had a stop in Sinop which was thankfully brief.  I kept looking out the window to make sure the carry-on I had to check in wasn't sitting out on the tarmac.  The approach into Sinop was a pretty rough, and I wondered how Chuck was handling it.  He probably left a few fingernails embedded into the arm rests.

On the flight, we met Larry and Carolyn, two Americans who were also going to the Rio Cristalino Jungle Lodge.  We talked about where we'd been and what we'd seen in our travels around Brazil.  They were hardcore birders, complete with very particular birds to add to what I imagine were extensive life lists.  (A life list is a list that many birders keep of all of the birds they've seen, with a key goal to see aas many different species as possible.  Hardcore birders have been known to travel to far off countries to look for one particular species of bird.)  While I kept a careful and complete list of everything I saw in Brazil, I don't keep a life list.  Though I like to remember (or be reminded) of the species I've seen, life lists have the tendency to turn in to obsessions, and I don't want my forays into nature to be driven by so narrow a goal as seeing a single species.

Before long, we were in Alta Floresta.   We were greeted at the airport by Zuleica and Scott.  Zuleica is a Brazilian who the manager of the Hotel Floresta Amazônica, and seems to serve as the hotel's chief greeter.  Scott is an American who serves as a volunteer guide (working for tips with free room and board) at the Rio Cristalino Jungle Lodge.  Being young, cute, and most importantly, blonde, Chuck took an immediate liking to Zuleica.  I think he would have dodged the immigration police and stayed in Brazil permanently if she’d asked him to!

We all piled into a Land Rover and went to the Hotel Floresta Amazônica to relax over some welcome drinks and a late lunch while Zuleica waited for all of our luggage.  I was a bit nervous about my camera gear getting forgotten, but didn't make waves and crossed my fingers.  It all worked out.  

We were greeted at the hotel with suca de tamarindo, which was quite tasty.  Since our luggage, and thus our binos and camera gear, had not arrived, we had lunch before going on a short hike on the hotel grounds to see some nesting harpy eagles (Harpia harpyja) and their nestling.  

The Hotel Floresta Amazônica is surrounded by a fair amount of primary rainforest (about 50 hectares, or 125 acres), with trails throughout.  This makes the hotel a fairly attractive destination of its own.  The owner of the hotel, and jungle lodge, Vitoria, seems committed to keeping a significant portion of her properties in a natural state, for which she gets my praise.

After lunch, we walked out to the harpy eagle nest, and ended up getting escorted by a guy who was doing some unpaid (and probably unguided, if not misguided) research on the eagles.  He took us to a couple of wildlife blinds that had been constructed out of palm fronds.  There we sat and watched the nestling in the nest.  There was no sign of either of the adults, which isn't surprising due to the age of the nestling.  It was old enough not to need constant care.

Harpy eagles are, by some measurements, the largest eagles in the world.  They are not the biggest, but are apparently the heaviest and strongest.  (Philippine eagles apparently hold the title for the largest eagles in the world in terms of physical dimensions.)

We would have watched it for quite a while, I suspect, hoping for the parents to return to the nest, but we had to get back to the hotel so we could leave on time to get to the jungle lodge for dinner.

From the hotel, it was about an hour drive to get to the boats awaiting us at Rio Teles Pires.  The drive took us past pastures that Fabricio said were until very recently primary forest, once again reminding us that what we were seeing was under extreme threat and might not be around for future generations.  The drive became a moment of contemplation for me.  The loss of one of the greatest ecosystems of the world would be a sore one in more ways than anyone could imagine.

Being as it was dusk when we arrived at the river, we hurriedly loaded our gear onto the small aluminum boats and made our way across the Teles Pires to the mouth of Rio Cristalino.  At the confluence of the two, the coffee waters of the Cristalino were slow to mix with the milk chocolate waters of the Teles Pires, the Cristalino fighting for it's identity for quite a ways downstream before being subsumed by the inevitable mixing.  

The sun set as we motored up the Rio Cristalino, offering a wonderful spectacle.  We moored at the jungle lodge as darkness was setting in, and were instantly captivated by the place.  We arrived once again to welcome drinks.  After enjoying the drinks we were shown to our bungalows, which were spacious though basic, as they should be.

The room had tile floors, a couple of chairs with a side table, two twin beds, a ceiling fan (useable only when the generator was running), a bathroom with cool and cold running water, and screens instead of windows.  We would later determine that our room had another guest; a gecko that liked to either perch high in the ceiling beams or on my bed.  It was a daily routine to wipe at least one gecko poop off of my bed (usually on or very near my pillow), which I found rather entertaining.  (I'm strange that way.)
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Day 13:  Friday, June 16, 2006

In the morning, we had breakfast at 5:45 so we could get an early start on our morning activity, which was a hike to the viewing tower near the lodge.  The tower is a little over 50 meters tall, and extends above the canopy of the forest, so it is a great place to view not only the forest itself, but also birds that remain in the upper levels of the forest.  We picked up about 18 new species of birds in the several hours we spent at the top of the tower, including blue-winged macaw (Ara maracana), channel-billed toucan (Ramphastos vitellinus), blue-headed parrot (Pionus menstruus), white-bellied parrot (Pionites leucogaster), and painted parakeet (Pyrrhura picta), all amazingly gorgeous.  We also saw more scarlet macaw (Ara macao). There was something special about seeing the scarlet macaw in particular, that was thrilling.  To see them flying over the tree tops was amazing.

After the tower, we went to another wildlife viewing tower, this one only several meters high, and located at an area where there is salty water and soil which attracts mammals such as tapir, peccary, and others.   There weren’t any mammals when we got there, but there were swarms of butterflies flitting around.  They too were attracted by the salt, which is in short supply throughout much of the Amazon.  Salt licks always seem to be associated with great places to watch wildlife as animals try to fulfill this important nutritional need.  I enjoyed trying to get pictures of the many different species of butterfly, many of which were quite beautiful.

When we got back to the lodge, we enjoyed a cold drink, which was really nice after a very sticky morning at the tower.  Shan tried suco de caju, or cashew juice, but it was really bad.  I put a bunch of sugar in it, which made it slightly better, and just downed it to get it over with.  After getting our drinks, Shan went back to the room for a nap and I decided to go hang out at the floating platform in the river.  I passed Chuck, Dave and Fabricio at the lodge and found the platform uninhabited.  I had a cold Antárctica (like Sprite or 7-Up), a comfortable chair, an occasional cooling breeze, and a beautiful view.  I was as happy as a kitten following a leaky cow, as the saying goes.  The wasps and butterflies, on the other hand, were as happy as, well, insects on a salt lick.  They decided they liked the sweat salt on my legs and plied up and down them licking me as I sat there.  It’s a good thing I have no fear of stinging things.  Only when a wasp got too close to someplace where it might get trapped or pinched if I shifted (like near my sandal straps) would I shoo them away.

I wasn’t there long before Chuck and Dave made their way down, and we sat together for a while.  While there we heard, then saw, a juvenile great black-hawk (Buteogallus urubitinga).  We also some spider monkeys, though briefly.  Unfortunately, I was unprepared and didn’t have my camera or even my binos.  We also met Erin, who appears to be Scott’s girlfriend, when the two of them came down for a swim in the river.  At lunch, Scott, Erin, Larry and Carolyn ended up sitting with Shan and I, and we had a pretty nice chat.
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In the afternoon, we went by boat up the Rio Cristalino.  We primarily saw things that we’d seen before, but we got really lucky and got to see a river otter (Lutra longicaudis) go up onto a small beach and roll around in the sand.  As soon as he saw us, he made a bee-line for the water.  Fabricio said it’s rare to get such a good look at the river otters out of the water, as they are very shy here.  We saw another otter latter, but it was in the water and dove quickly once it saw us.  We motored up the river a ways, then the boat driver cut the engine and we largely just drifted back to the lodge, with motor assistance on occasion.  

One of the highlights of the evening was seeing the capped heron, which are amazingly beautiful.  They are also rather shy creatures, and they don’t stick around for long once humans arrive.  We got a good look at some Scarlet Macaws as well.

At dinner we were joined by Amy, the youngest person here at the lodge.  At 15, she is quite the extraordinary child.  She plopped herself right down in the middle of the five of us and just started chatting away.  She was there with friends of her parents, and is big into butterflies and photography.  She was very bright, and I suspect that she is going to go far in life.

In the evening, someone started an insect trap to see what would come in.  The most exciting catch was a huge rhinoceros beetle.  I held it in my hands and it was about half the size of my whole palm, and I have really large hands!  The rhinoceros beetle was amazingly strong too, with large hooked feet.  It took quite a bit of effort to extricate it from my hand.  A little research reveals that the rhinoceros beetle can support 850 times it’s own weight on it’s back, making it the strongest creature on earth (proportionally speaking of course).  What an amazing insect!
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Day 14:  Saturday, June 17, 2006

In the morning, we took a boat up river to the Brazil Nut Trail.  We didn’t see much on the river, and didn’t see anything we could get a good enough look at to identify on the trail except for a musician wren.  The musician wren looks unassuming, but it has an amazingly beautiful song.  After the Brazil Nut Trail, we went by boat down stream and across the river to the Dr. Haffer Trail, which parallels the river.  The boat driver continued down river and picked us up at the other end.  On this trail too, we didn’t see much, and what we saw we only saw briefly.  One very notable exception was the sighting of a couple of bay-headed tanagers (Tangara gyrola), which look like a painter’s palette.  When we got back to the lodge, we saw some white-whiskered spider monkeys (Ateles marginatus), which we stopped to take some pictures of.

3:50 a.m., 18 June 2006, Rio Cristalino Jungle Lodge, Mato Grosso, Brazil

After lunch, Shan wanted to take a nap, so I went down to the floating platform again to write and enjoy the river.  I saw the juvenile great black-hawk again, and this time was better prepared with my binos and camera.  I also saw a swarm of beautiful butterflies, or borboletas in Portuguese.  There were primarily three species of butterflies, one brown and two were different shades of yellow.  The butterflies that were a lighter shade of yellow were some kind of sulphur butterfly.  There were hundreds and hundreds of them.

After a while, Shan came down to play a game of Scrabble, but we had barely started when she said she was feeling really tired and that she might not go on our afternoon hike back up to the tower.  I ended the game early and marched her back up to the room for a shower to cool her off and put some spring back in her step.  It appeared to have worked, because she thanked me later for getting her to go.  It seemed that the humidity was draining her a bit.  I normally hate humidity as well, but I guess the energy of the place helped keep me going.

We picked up a handful of new species on the way to the tower, and another handful or so at the tower that evening, including a beautiful toucan.  We also saw some old favorites, such as scarlet macaw.  When we got to the tower, Fabricio decided that he was going to raise his tripod to the top using the rope and pulley system on the tower.  But when he got to the top and started pulling it up, the rope got all tangled up and he couldn’t get the tripod to the top of the tower.  To make a long story short, it took Fabricio three times longer and four times more work to get the tripod up the tower than if he had just carried it.  While all of that was going on, I used my spotting scope for the first time on this trip.  It ended up being nice to have two scopes at the tower, but I largely took it and used it because I had lugged the thing about 8000 miles at that point, and figured I should use it at least once.  

In retrospect, I should have left the spotting scope at home.  Between my binos and my camera, I had plenty of gear to deal with, and though I’ve got a good setup for carrying all three, it’s almost too much to deal with.  If we’d been in a larger group, the second scope would have been a godsend, but with only the four of us, one spotting scope seemed sufficient in most situations.  

We descended the tower after sunset, and hiked back in the dark, which was neat.  I lagged behind and used my flashlight to locate a number of spiders by their eye shine, and took some pictures.   I was able to find some pretty cool spiders.  Back at the lodge, all of us minus Fabricio decided to go down to the dock and look for frogs.   We finally got to see some herps!  We saw two different species of frog and a snake.  The frogs we identified as being a flat-headed bromeliad tree frog and a smooth jungle frog.  Wil, who appears to be a volunteer guide (or volunteer something) at the lodge, identified the snake as an amazonian tree boa.  When we went in for dinner, Wil told us he’d caught a cat-eye snake and a rosy boa.  The rosy boa in particular was beautiful.

Day 15:  Sunday, June 18, 2006

6:00 p.m., 18 June 2006, Rio Cristalino Jungle Lodge, Mato Grosso, Brazil

Shan had a rough night last night.  She kept getting bit by bugs and was up a lot during the night.  At one point I got up and had to scrape a couple of ticks (or something) off of her back.  She said they hurt really bad.  At any rate, between the humidity, the cold showers, and the bugs at night, but especially the bugs at night, Shan is getting pretty weary, and she commonly takes naps during the day here.  But mostly, she’s is stressing a bit about the bugs in her bed.

We had a very early start today.  We met down at the boat dock at five o’clock in the morning.  Shan and I were the first ones to arrive for a change, so I scoped the docks out for any interesting herps.  I found one small frog that I still have to try to identify.  We were on the water shortly after five, and headed up the river, with barely enough light to see by.

The reason why we were moving so early is that we had to cover about 36 kilometers of river by around 7 o’clock so that we could see some hoatzin (Opisthocomus hoazin), a bird that would look quite normal next to a dinosaur.  We figured we’d see other great things along the way as well, and we weren’t disappointed.  As the morning lightened, but before the sun came up, we saw a tapir (Tapirus terrestris) in the river near shore.  We didn’t get to see it for long, but we got a pretty good look at it, at least the upper half of it, as it was in the water along the shore.  As Fernando spun the boat around, we saw it go under water, but by the time we made it back around, it had come up the bank and bolted into the forest, not to be seen again.

As dawn came, we saw more birds, including many we’d already seen, but also some notable new ones such as the american pygmy kingfisher (Chloroceryle aenea), which is not much bigger than a large hummingbird, and what we think were red-shouldered macaw (Ara nobilis).  Since the water level of Rio Cristalino is so low, there are a few places where it is tricky to get the motorboat through.  At one such spot, either to lighten the boat or because it is seen as too dangerous, we all had to get out of the boat and walk past a set of mild rapids as Fernando piloted the boat through them.  Then we all piled back in the boat and continued toward the hoatzin.

At around seven o’clock, we arrived at a couple of oxbow lakes where the hoatzin are known to congregate.  Like many things in this area seem to be, they were very secretive, and liked to stay hidden in the thick foliage.  I got a couple of brief good looks at the different parts of several hoatzin, and was able to piece together a whole one in my mind.   I don’t think anyone else was quite as impressed or excited about seeing the hoatzin as I was.  While searching for the hoatzin, we happened upon an agami heron (Agamia agami), which is very rare.  It was only the second one that Fabricio had ever seen, and he said that people come here just to see this heron.  Apparently we were the only clueless ones regarding this bird, because everyone back at the lodge was asking about our agami heron sighting.  It was like we’d seen Elvis, or something.  Die-hard birders are a strange bunch.

We picked up several other new birds while floating around there.  On the way back to the lodge, still more new birds, plus a golden tegu lizard (Tupinambus teguixin), a bat that I think was a white-lined sac-winged bat (Saccopteryx spp.), and a pair of capybara (Hydrochaeris hydrochaeris).   Fabricio said that capybara can hold their breath and stay underwater for up to an hour.  

We got back to the lodge not long before lunch, and after lunch I went back and forth between watching Brazil beat Australia 2-0 in World Cup play and the library, where I was waiting for Wil, one of the few people here interested in herps, to chill the snakes he caught the previous day for photos.  He ended up not doing it, so after the game I sat in the library and tried to identify some of the butterflies I got pictures of.  I think I actually got a few of them, but after a while I got frustrated and went back to the room.  Butterflies are extremely difficult to identify, partially because there are so many that look similar, and I think partially because they aren’t as popular (and therefore not as well studied) as birds.

Before dinner, we did another hike in the jungle, ending up at the Saliero House, but the forest was extremely quiet, and all I saw was either the plum-throated (Cotinga maynana) or spangled cotinga (Cotinga cayana), and a couple of other birds we couldn’t identify.  I had really hoped for a better last night for Chuck and Dave.

10:45 a.m., 19 June 2006, Rio Cristalino Jungle Lodge, Mato Grosso, Brazil

Day 16:  Monday, June 19, 2006

Shan had a better night last night.  She still didn’t sleep much because she had psyched herself out to a degree, but she didn’t get eaten alive, so I think it will help her rest easier in the future.  She still wants to try to change our plans so that we spend one less night here at the jungle lodge and one more night at the Hotel Floresta Amazônica in Alta Floresta, which is the sister hotel for the jungle lodge.  This was something that I suggested we could do that soon afterwards I kind of regretted.  But with Shan really getting affected by being here, I thought that getting her back into something more approximating so-called civilization might help her out.  She definitely latched on to the idea, in part because it means she can have more time to go shopping in Alta Floresta.  She’s also excited about air conditioning, hot showers, and fresh juices though.  Even though I generally hate humidity, I don’t think it has been all that bad overall, or I’ve just been dealing with it well.

At any rate, Fabricio agreed to try to make arrangements for us to leave a day early, but wasn’t sure if he’d have any luck.  He was also a little bit dumbfounded by our request.  At breakfast, when I re-iterated to him that Shan really does want to leave a day early, he said something to the effect of, “It is my job to show you things.  There is nothing to show there except the Harpy Eagle.  No way for me to do my job.”  So we’ll have to see what happens.  I wish we could leave here early and go spend some more time in a different part of the Pantanal.  There isn’t quite enough to do and see here to keep Shan interested.  I’d be happy just to go wander through the jungle checking things out, but Shan doesn’t have quite the naturalist spirit that I do.  She also has a harder time finding birds with her binos, so unless we can get the spotting scope on it, she misses a lot.  I think that affects her ability to enjoy everything as much as the rest of us.

Since Shan didn’t get much sleep last night, she decided to sleep in and skip the morning hike.  At my request, Fabricio tried to get a boat trip for Chuck and Dave’s last day in Brazil, but he didn’t have any luck, as there was a film crew from the German World Wildlife Federation there and they were using a lot of the lodge’s resources, including all of the boats that morning.  

At any rate, we got a nice new species before we even left the lodge.  We saw a pair of orange-cheeked parrots (Pionopsitta barrabandi).   We got a nice good look at them too.  We picked up a few new species on our way to the tower, and got to the tower with perfect timing, just as another group was leaving.  So we spent about 45 minutes at the top of the tower before we had to head back so Chuck and Dave could take a shower before starting their long journey back home.

When we got back to the lodge, the outside of their bungalow was swarming with army ants.  Every so often, a colony of army ants will relocate their nest.  When this happens, they move en masse from one location to another.  Chuck and Dave got lucky, as the ants didn’t actually go into their bungalow, but they were saying that the ants did go into a couple of the adjoining bungalows.  Shan and I went over to take a look, and Vitoria, the owner of the lodge and hotel, happened to walk by.  She seemed quite interested by the swarm, and talked to us a bit about the ants.

Fabricio said that they get army ant swarms where he lives too.  They will invade a home and all you can do is just leave and let them do their thing.  Apparently, they are great housekeepers, as they will go through and clean out any other pests that might be in your house such as roaches, spiders, snakes, or anything else they can eat.

After the ants, we all just went down to the outside dinning area and hung out while we waited for the boat to start Chuck and Dave on their long journey home.  The boat was waiting until a new group coming into the lodge was at the other end.  It was late in the afternoon before they got the word that it was time to go.  Shan and I went with them down to the docks and said our good-byes.  As soon as their boat rounded the corner Shan said she missed them already.  I too felt that it would be a different trip without them around, and didn’t want to see them go.  It was great to have their company and their knowledge on this trip.

With Chuck’s leaving, I just started thinking about the person who wasn’t able to join us here at all . . .  Jeffers.  We have seen so many things that he would have gone absolutely bonkers over.

6:45 p.m., 19 June 2006, Rio Cristalino Jungle Lodge, Mato Grosso, Brazil

At lunch, we were joined by Vitoria, and we talked about the lodge, and she gave us suggestions on things to do.  We had already planned on doing everything she suggested, but it was nice that she at least seemed to take interest in us fully enjoying our stay here.  For dessert, they had some sort of banana thing that wasn’t very good, but Shan brought three huge plates of it for me, Fabricio and herself.  I ended up eating all of mine because I was sitting with the owner of the lodge, but Shan and Fabricio barely touched theirs.

After lunch Wil chilled the rainbow boa he caught (since the cat-eye snake escaped), and took it out for a photo shoot.  Everyone had to wait though, as the German film crew making the show for the German World Wildlife Federation got first crack at it.  By the time they were done, the boa had warmed up and was moving well (which was good because at first Wil thought he may have chilled it too much).  With it waking up and moving quickly, I was afraid that we wouldn’t get many good shots, but Wil ended up moving the snake to a tree branch, which gave us plenty of  time for some good shots.  I was still taking photos after everyone but Shan had left, when I discovered that the boa was definitely recovered from being chilled.  As I was taking a picture with the little camera when it struck, fortunately hitting the camera instead of my hand.  It was startling, but cool.  The pictures of the snake in the tree turned out really well, and later I thought it amusingly ironic that the film crew missed the best shots.  

Even though they were doing good things, I have to admit that I held a tiny bit of animosity towards the film crew.  They had really no clue what they were looking at, had ridiculous expectations about what they would see, like this was a zoo with trained animals, and tended to commandeer space and equipment without respect to the others at the lodge.

Back at the room, I did a little laundry before our afternoon outing, which was another boat ride up the river.  This time, however, we got another shot at fishing for piranha.  Shan hooked one, but yanked back so hard that she threw it completely over the boat, off the hook, and back into the water on the other side.  As the piranha flew over their heads, Fabricio and Alfredo sure hit the deck!  I can’t say that I blame them either.  Then I gave it a shot, but wasn’t able to land anything.  Alfredo, who was our boat driver, wasn’t successful either, so we went to a new location, where we were unsuccessful again.  So we went to a third location.  This time I hooked two piranhas, but both escaped as I pulled them out of the water.  Then the boat driver caught one, which was all the success we had.

For the most part, we saw the usual birds, but we did see a new antbird, and I got a nice shot of a channel-billed toucan (Ramphastos vitellinus).  We also got a nice look at our first caiman here in the Amazon.  It was an adult, but much smaller than the caiman in the Pantanal, and according to Fabricio, more aggressive as well.  Later, I identified it as a cuvier's dwarf caiman (Paleosuchus palpebrosus).  It was a beautiful animal.

After dinner, I went down to the boat dock to look for herps, and found a couple of new toads, including what Wil thinks was a crested forest toad (Bufo hudata).

8:45 p.m., 21 June 2006, Floresta Amazonica Hotel, Mato Grosso, Brazil

Day 17:  Tuesday, June 20, 2006

After breakfast, we boarded a boat again and Sabastian took us for a short ride to the start of the Serra Trail.  We towed a canoe and an inflatable kayak upstream for us to float back to the lodge in.  Our main objective was to find a yellow and black poison dart frog.  Unfortunately, we had two strikes against us before we even started.  One was the lack of rain so the frogs weren’t out, and the other was the fact that there were two plants with bright yellow flowers this time of year, most of which littered the ground.  With so many small bright yellow objects on the ground, we could have looked right at many yellow poison dart frogs and not known it.

Sabastian hiked with us on the Serra Trail, and with Fabricio translating, talked about some of the plants we were seeing and what they were used for.  One unassuming plant called a murandi (sp?) is still used in dentistry as a local anesthetic.  Both Shannon and I chewed on the base of a murandi leaf, and it wasn’t long before the numbing effect occurred.  Apparently the root is even more potent.  Sabastian also pointed out that the pashuba (sp?) tree, which I had been calling the “grass skirt tree” because it has a bunch of roots or buttresses fanning  out at the base of the tree like a skirt, is used by the Indians for furniture, and that they also eat the sap.  Another interesting fact was about the palmalato (sp?) tree, which has a “skin” that one often sees peeling off.  The skin of the tree can be used like a band-aid, and apparently has properties that help wounds heal faster.

The trail climbs pretty steeply up a ridge line where there is a lot of exposed rock, which is somewhat unusual in and of itself from what I had seen.  We continued climbing while searching for the poison dart frogs, Sabastian turned over a rock and instead of a frog, found a bat.  It was a really large rock, so I was concerned about him putting the rock back down on top of the bat since it had moved.   Shan and I tried to tell him to just leave the rock overturned and let the bat crawl back under it or move to a new location, but he didn’t understand what we were saying and put it back.  Before we left, I checked under the rock and made sure the bat was alive, which it was.  I couldn’t tell if it was injured though.  I really hope it was, and I feel horrible at even the possibility that it might have been injured.

After leaving the bat, we continued our ascent and ended up at a lookout, from which it was possible to see a large expanse of the preserve, a tiny bit of the river, and way off in the distance, the 50 meter tower.  Near the lookout we saw a hummingbird nest with babies in it, and a black vulture nest, with a fledgling at it.

We didn’t stop much on the way back to the river, and once there, Shan and I got in the canoe and Fabricio took the inflatable kayak while Sabastian shadowed us in the boat, usually just floating, but occasionally using the motor.  Apparently he had to stick close to us for safety reasons.  When we got closer to the lodge, he motored on in, leaving only the sounds of our paddles and the birds.  At one point, we passed by the film crew on the bank of the river, and I’m pretty sure they were filming us as we paddled by.  I figured if they were, they wouldn’t want us looking at the camera, so I didn’t look over to verify, but the camera was definitely pointed at us when I first saw them.  I think we made a good show of it for them though.

Since we were in a canoe using kayak paddles (really short kayak paddles no less), we weren’t as maneuverable as I would have liked, so the trip back to the lodge wasn’t as nice as I had envisioned beforehand.  By that point, it was late in the morning as well, so there wasn’t much to see.  I would have loved to have had my kayak there.

In the afternoon, we hiked the Caja Trail, which follows the river downstream for a ways before heading over to the Tower Trail.  Along the Caja Trail we got a great look at some black caracara (Daptrius ater).  Fabricio was also really good at finding a couple of really small frogs along the trail.

After dinner, we watched some slide shows that Wil and Jill had put together for birds, butterflies, and herps that have been found at Rio Cristalino.  I recognized much of what was in the slideshows, but there were a lot of things we hadn’t seen as well.  After the slideshows, I went down to the boat dock briefly to see if there was anything new, but there wasn’t.

7:00 p.m., 22 June 2006, Floresta Amazonica Hotel, Mato Grosso, Brazil

Day 18:  Wednesday, June 21, 2006

For our last morning at Rio Cristalino Jungle Lodge, Fabricio was able to wrangle us a boat for the morning, a fairly difficult task with the World Wildlife Fund film crew around, since they often use two boats, and therefore two guides/boat drivers.  This time, we got Gilmar, so we managed to get all four of the Brazilian guides while there.  According to Fabricio, this is quite unusual.  Normally, each group has one Brazilian guide for their entire stay, and that they go with the group everywhere they go, even on hikes.  This is better because it allows the guides to build a rapport with the guests, and also allows the guides to better share their knowledge of the forest, as they know what they’ve already told you and what they haven’t.  

At any rate, we went down river for the first time, which was nice because we simply floated most of the way.  That meant we were able to travel noiselessly, so we saw many birds, including quite a few new ones.  We also got some great looks at birds we had seen before.  Some of the highlights of the float were a nice look at a channel-billed toucan (Ramphastos vitellinus), a black-tailed trogon (Trogon melanurus), and a black-throated mango hummingbird (Anthracothorax nigricollis) on a nest.

We floated all the way to the confluence of Rio Cristalino with Rio Teles Pires, then Gilmar powered us across the Teles Pires to an island that is owned by Vitoria.  On the island, we got out of the boat to do a little more birding.  On the island, we got a great look at a white-tailed trogon (Trogon viridis), and a pair of rufous-tailed jacamars (Galbula ruficauda).  Then on the way back to the lodge, we got a good look at a brown howler monkey (Alouatta fusca).  It was one of our best outings.   

When we got back to the lodge, we gave Fabricio part of his “tip.”  Earlier in the trip, we had noticed that for all the hiking Fabricio does, he only had tennis shoes to wear, and when we were in areas where there was potential for nasty things to crawl up your legs, all he could do was tuck his pant legs into his socks.  After some pointed questions, we learned that he would like a pair of boots, but didn’t have any because they are really expensive in Brazil.  My boots would have been far too big for him, but Shan’s feet were pretty close to the size of his, so after our final boat ride, we gave him Shan’s boots and gaiters, which seemed to fit him pretty well.  I hope they serve him well.

After that, we got organized and packed our stuff up to prepare for our imminent departure.  Wanting to make the most out of my final hours at the lodge, I wandered around after lunch just to see what I could find.  I didn’t find much, but did see some new butterflies, and after returning to the lodge, found that Wil, who had re-caught the common cat-eye snake, had chilled and released it.   I arrived shortly before the film crew was done with it, so didn’t have to wait long before being able to get some pictures of it.  It didn’t pose quite as nicely as the rainbow boa, and it was far less docile, so I didn’t get as many nice shots, but I did get some good ones.

By the time the snake slithered off into the leaves and disappeared, it was after three o’clock, and time for me to find and tip the guides, gather up our luggage and get ready to leave.  Our departure was delayed for a bit, so we sat and chatted with Jill, Amy and Tim (the guy who arrived on the boat that took Chuck and Dave home).  I also showed Jill and Amy some of the pictures from our trip, including my jaguar pictures, and my river otter pictures, both of which really impressed Jill.  She was pretty amazed at how lucky we had gotten on our trip.

At around four o’clock, it was finally time for us to leave.  Leaving with us were Tim, and a guy named Vincent, a Frenchman who I had scarcely even noticed at the lodge.  We hugged good-bye to Jill and Amy, then shoved off and slowly motored down river.  I spent much of the time talking to Tim, largely about binoculars and other optics.  As we were talking, we were interrupted by an encore performance by a river otter (Lutra longicaudis).  He kept swimming around and popping his head above water to look at us.  Then while we were there watching him, he caught a fish, climbed up on a partially submerged log and ate it.   The light was bad, but I took pictures anyway, and managed some passably decent shots.  As I was watching it, I kept imagining what Jill would have said about our good luck.

At the end of our boat journey, we loaded up the Land Rover and headed back to the Hotel Floresta Amazônica, where we would spend the next two nights.  (Fabricio was successful in switching our last night at the jungle lodge for a night at the hotel in town.)  We had dinner at the hotel, then retired for the evening.

Day 19:  Thursday, June 22, 2006

We slept in a tiny bit in the morning, not waking up until six o’clock for a 6:30 breakfast.  We got a little bit delayed because when Shan went to grab the shirt she had drying in the bathroom, a frog jumped out of it.  So I had to capture the frog and set it free in the plants outside our room.  When we met Fabricio for breakfast, he said he saw a motmot from the parking lot before we arrived.  So before sitting down to eat we marched out there to try to get a look.  After five days of hearing but not seeing motmots at the lodge, we finally saw one in Alta Floresta.  It’s too bad we didn’t even have our binos with us, let alone our cameras.   Still, it was good to at least finally see one!

After breakfast we did a really short birding walk before going into the main part of the town of Alta Floresta for Shan’s shopping spree.  Even though we weren’t out long, it turned out to be a good morning, as we finally got a good look at an azara’s agouti (Dasyprocta azarae), and I got some really nice pictures of the scarlet macaw (Ara macao).

We were back at the hotel by eight o’clock at Shan’s insistence, as the Casa de Artesanato (crafts shop) was supposed to open at that time.  We called a taxi to take us into town.  As we pulled away, we discovered that the rear seatbelts didn’t work on this taxi either.  I probably looked over at Shan like a deer in the headlights at the moment I realized they didn’t work, but fortunately, it didn’t create a disaster like the last time.  It was early morning, and there was hardly any traffic, plus Alta Floresta is a small town, so the driving isn’t quite as chaotic, so I think that helped.

When we got to the main drag of Alta Floresta, which is apparently just about the only drag of Alta Floresta, there wasn’t much there for shopping.  One of the things Shan was really hoping to get here was some blue topaz, which Brazil is famous for, but all of the jewelry stores had pretty cheap jewelry and Shan was wholly unimpressed.  So we quickly turned our attention to other things, such as crafts and Brazilian soccer shirts.  I had expressed mild interest in getting one, and Shan turned that into her own mission to find just the right one.  I let her go in that quest, in part because I wouldn’t have minded getting one, but largely because I knew that the shopping opportunities were going to be scant, and looking for a shirt would eat up time and make Shan feel like she had  truly been shopping.  

When we made it to the Casa de Artesanato, it wasn’t open yet, and we assumed it would open at nine o’clock, so we had some time to kill.  We ended up walking a good length of the main business district without finding a shirt that was quite right that was also large enough for me.  Brazilians are generally smaller than I am.  Shan found a few things that piqued her interest, but wanted to hold out for the Casa de Artesanato before making any decisions.  I felt bad for Fabricio, who certainly wasn’t used to following a couple of tourists around on a shopping spree, especially in a town without good shops to spree in.  He was clearly bored of following us around, and I think a little confused by Shan’s shopping behavior, as she would find something she liked, then say she might come back to it later if she didn’t find something better.

By the time we made it back to the Casa de Artesanato, it was open.  It wasn’t very big, but I knew we would be there a while.  After about ten minutes, Fabricio asked how long we thought we would be, and if we would mind if he went to the nearby internet café while we browsed.  We certainly didn’t mind, and arranged for him to return in 30 minutes.  After he walked away, Shan really started in on the jewelry section, and I ran Fabricio down and told him to come back in an hour.  At the end of that hour, we were still making final decisions on things, and it was another ten to 15 minutes before we finally walked out of the store, R$200 lighter in the wallet.

After that, we wandered a little bit more before calling the taxi to take us back to the hotel.  Since it was the same guy, again we had no seatbelts, but Shan seemed to deal with it ok.  We made it back to the hotel safe and sound, and had a quick break before lunch at the hotel.  Shan had originally planned on going shopping again in the afternoon, but we were finally able to convince her of the reality that we had done all the shopping there was to do in Alta Floresta.  Not only that, but due to the Brazil vs. Japan World Cup soccer game that afternoon, all of the stores would be closing early anyway.

Instead of shopping, we relaxed in our room for a bit after lunch, and as the game was starting, I went to the hotel lobby to watch the game with Fabricio while Shan took a nap.  The hotel had set up a large projection t.v. in a side room where we watched the game, and at half time they had cake, popcorn and drinks for the fans.    Shan woke up near the beginning of the second half, and joined us for the rest of the game.  Brazil started out a little slow, but ended up with a 4-1win, much to the delight of all the devoted fans.

By the time the game was over, it was nearly five o’clock, but we decided to go for a quick birding walk down the dirt road in front of the hotel.  We didn’t see anything new, but got another great look at a scarlet macaw.  All in all, we saw about 20 species of birds and mammals on the day.

Before dinner, we found another frog in our bathroom, which I had to extricate.  And when we returned to our room after dinner, we had a total of four frogs in the bathroom and one frog in the hallway.  One little frog in particular was quick and extremely sneaky, so it took me a little while to catch him and put him outside.  He was so adept at simply disappearing before my eyes as I tried to catch him that I started calling him Houdini Frog.  

In general, I found their ability to leap on a vertical surface to be amazing.  One would think that by jumping from a vertical surface, their trajectory would continue to take them away from the wall, precluding any ability to land back on that wall.  However, they seem to be able to manage to jump flat enough that they can still reach out and grab the wall with their sticky little hands and feet.  At any rate, we’re now keeping the light on in the bathroom, under the theory that they’ll only come in when it’s dark.  So far it seems to be working, though it’s possible that they aren’t coming in because as I type this, I’m sitting in the bathroom.  I had to come in here because Shan went to bed some time ago and my typing was keeping her awake.

11:20 p.m., 24 June 2006, en route to Houston, Texas, USA

Day 20:  Friday, June 23, 2006

As I type this, we are passing over Cuiaba’.  I wonder what Fabricio is doing down there right now, and if I’ll ever get the pleasure of seeing him again.

Since we had pretty good luck birding the previous morning at the Hotel Floresta Amazônica, we opted for an earlier start, and going birding before breakfast.  It proved to be a fruitful decision, as we saw 27 species of bird and three species of mammals, a few of which we had not seen before.  We went down to the ponds west of the hotel, and I got some great scarlet macaw (Ara macao) pictures, and what I hope are some good shots of some chestnut-eared araçari (Pteroglossus castanotis).  While stalking the macaw, I was sneaking along the shore of the pond in fairly thick vegetation when a capybara (Hydrochaeris hydrochaeris) spooked and rushed into the water, scaring the living bejeezus out of me.  It was then that I noticed a whole herd of capybara further down the shore.  If the light had been better, it would have made for a great picture.  As I tried to get a shot of them, they spooked en masse, which also sent my coveted hopes of a better scarlet macaw picture flying into thin air.  I found a phenomenal place to wait for their return, but they never came back, and after 20 minutes or so I gave up.  

We then walked back to the hotel for breakfast before taking a short hike on Trahla dos Primates to see what we could find and try to revisit the harpy eagle (Harpia harpyja) nest to see if we could get lucky enough to see one of the adults.  When we arrived at the nest, the baby was nowhere to be found, but the adult female was on the nest eating something pretty big, though we couldn’t tell just what it was.  We never got a really great look at the female since she was within the nest, but I got some pretty good shots.  After a while, she flew away, and with my running really low on shots on my memory card, decided to leave, with me changing lenses as we walked so I could use my final shots on some beautiful flowers we’d seen on the way in.  We were about 20 meters down the trail when Fabricio looked back and the female was sitting higher in the nest, so we raced back and I changed back to my big zoom lens.  I took a couple of shots, then went back and deleted some shots that weren’t as good to free up memory.  Then, amazingly, the male showed up, right as my memory card was full.  Fortunately, I then remembered that I had another memory card in my pack, and I quickly switched cards.  I then got what I think are some amazing shots of the male in flight as he moved about the nest tree.  

After a while, the male flew off again, leaving only the female.  With some great shots under my belt, and figuring we’d spent enough time in their presence, we decided to head back to the hotel.  The harpy eagles provided a fantastic finale to our visit.  On the way back, we saw a brown capuchin monkey (Cebus apella robustus) really close.  Unfortunately, I was caught with the wrong lens again, and by the time I got my large zoom back on the camera, the monkey had moved much higher into the thick canopy and the best shots were missed.

Once back at the beginning of the trail, I stopped to take some pictures of some beautiful flowers there, and told Fabricio that I might be a while and that if he wanted, he could head back to his room.  After I got my flower pictures, I thought it might be a good idea to make one last check of the tree where we saw the scarlet macaws to see if perhaps they had returned, so Shan and I hiked down to the ponds to check.  The ponds were pretty quiet, and there were no macaws to be found, so we headed back to our room to finish our packing and shower for the beginning of our journey back to Arizona.  

Though before leaving the lodge a day early, I had been disappointed about the decision, we got really lucky at the hotel, and in the end, I don’t have any major regrets about leaving the jungle lodge a day early.  And it certainly made Shan happier, which makes life for everyone easier.

I was a bit concerned about getting all of our normal gear plus the souvenirs we bought into our bags, but it proved to be far less difficult than I imagined.  We got everything ready to go early, so instead of sitting in our room, we thought we’d wander around the hotel a bit.  As we approached the lobby, we saw Wil and Amy walking the other way.  I hailed them down and we chatted briefly.  Then Zuleica, the blonde Brazilian that Chuck liked, saw us and we chatted for a bit.  By the time we parted it was nearly time for us to meet Fabricio for lunch, so we just went into the dinning room and waited for him.  The buffet lunch got delayed so we ended up not eating until around 12:30.  We were supposed to leave the hotel to go to the airport between 1:00 and 1:30, but due to the late lunch and some billing difficulties, we ended up not leaving until about a quarter to two.  Fortunately, it isn’t far to the airport.  Equally fortunate is that the airport is tiny, has no security check, and so far as I know only has one commercial flight serving it, so it isn’t a huge deal to arrive close to the departure time.

Unfortunately, the airline serving Alta Floresta is Tryp, which I’m sure is a fine airline, but they were unable to ticket us all the way through to Sao Paolo.  Instead they gave us a couple of hand-written tickets that looked dubious.  On top of that, they lost our TAM travel passes.  How they lost them in such a small ticketing area is beyond me.  Had Fabricio not been with us, I would have been a little concerned, but I had the utmost confidence in his abilities to get us on our flight to Sao Paolo.  Complicating matters, however, was the fact that under optimal conditions, we would only have 40 minutes to disembark, get the whole ticket thing sorted out, and get onto our next flight.  

Another small snag was that the Tryp staff wouldn’t let us take our carry-on suitcases as carry-on items, so we had to check them through all the way to Sao Paolo.  One of them contained all of the souvenirs we’d purchased, the other contained all of my expensive camera gear.  Fabricio fought hard for me to be able to keep the one with my camera gear in it, but we lost in the end.  Still, even though I couldn’t understand most of what he was saying, I think he gave them a pretty stern warning about the importance of its contents, and they ended up putting two “Fragile” tags on it.  I hoped that Brazilian baggage handlers weren’t like some of the American ones I’ve known, and that the Fragile tags wouldn’t lead them to subject my bag to treatment that not even a mountain gorilla could inflict.

Our flight from Alta Floresta got off the ground a few minutes late, and landed in Cuiabá ten minutes late, shortening our available time to get everything sorted out with the tickets to a mere 30 minutes.  Thankfully, there was hardly any line at the TAM ticket counter, and by the time Fabricio joined us there, we were half of the way to getting our tickets to Sao Paolo.  I don’t remember the name of the ticketing agent, but she seemed completely unfazed by tickets that only had “Sao Paolo” and our names hand-written on them and took care of everything quickly.  Kudos to her, whoever she is.  Our next slight snag was that the line to go through security was quite long, so before we even finished getting our tickets, I had Shan get in line.

With our tickets in hand, we parted ways with Fabricio with handhakes, hugs, and many “abrigodos.”  We left him with a couple hundred US dollars, and Shan’s boots and gaiters as thank yous for him making our trip to Brazil such a fantastic one.  After parting, Shan and I took turns holding our place in line while making quick restroom stops.  Fabricio called a taxi to take him home to Poconé, though he would be back in several hours with his friends for a concert and a party to start off his five days off before his next tour.

We made it through security slowly and made our flight with a few minutes to spare.  The rest of our trip to Sao Paolo was uneventful, but there was one lingering unknown ahead of us.  Instead of flying into Guarulhos, where we started from, TAM returned us to Congonhas, another major airport in Sao Paolo.  Congonhas was nowhere near our hotel, so we figured we would have one heck of an expensive taxi ride to get to our hotel, if we could even find a taxi driver in Congonhas familiar enough with Guarulhos to get us to the hotel at all.

Another possibility was to take a bus from Congonhas to the airport at Guarulhos, then take the hotel shuttle or a taxi from there to the hotel.  We found a bus service from one airport to the other that was R$24 per person, making me think that a taxi ride would be really expensive.  We found the information center in the airport, so Shan could ask about craft buying opportunities, and we tried determining the best way to get to Guarulhos as well.  Unfortunately, the staff there didn’t speak English, but just as we were about to give up, someone who did speak English showed up and in true Brazilian fashion, was a huge help.  When she found out we were flying TAM, she said that TAM operates a free bus from one airport to the other that we could take.  Not only that, she went with us on the 5-10 minute walk to the place where the bus was, helping us with other information along the way.  Again, I didn’t get her name, but we are extremely grateful to her.

I was a tiny bit concerned about them letting us on the bus, as we didn’t have a connecting flight at Guarulhos with TAM Airlines, which I’m assuming is the main purpose of the bus, but our ticket stubs for our previous flight got us on the bus.  Shan did notice that the ticket checker looked at them twice though.  Perhaps he was either being nice, or simply didn’t want to deal with arguing with a couple of people who didn’t speak Portuguese.  We had to wait about 20 minutes for the 11:00 p.m. departure of the bus, and the bus ride itself took about 35-40 minutes.  At Guarulhos airport, Shan again went to the information booth, and we go some very rough directions for a craft market of sorts within walking distance of our hotel.  It sounded at least somewhat promising, especially in light of all of the other places we had found on the internet before the trip were about 45 minutes driving time (meaning an expensive taxi ride) away from our hotel.  After the information booth, we decided to check quickly if the hotel shuttle was there before paying for a taxi to take us to the airport.  

Due to the lateness of the day, I was fully prepared to get a taxi immediately if the bus wasn’t there.  I wasn’t about to make the same mistake of waiting a long time for the bus again!  When we walked out of the hotel, I saw the hotel shuttle at the end of the terminal.  Shan and I broke into a run, not wanting to miss it.  It turns out we were chasing down a bus without even a driver in it.  Fortunately there weren’t too many people around to see the dumb Americans chasing a bus that wasn’t going anywhere.  Within a minute, the driver returned to the bus, loaded our luggage, and we were soon checking back in to the Meliá Confort Hotel.  The hotel shuttle experience this time was the complete antithesis of our last experience.  And not only was our entire journey from Congonhas to the hotel free, I suspect it may have even been nearly as fast as taking a taxi, as I firmly believe it would have been difficult for a taxi driver not familiar with the area to get us to the hotel without trouble.  I estimate the taxi ride would have cost at least R$100 too.

Once at the hotel, we informed the hotel staff that we would be unable to go to Embu das Artes and asked them to cancel the driver they had arranged for the next day.  It wasn’t long before we were in bed, looking forward to being able to sleep in the next morning.  It had been a long day.

Day 21:  Saturday, June 24, 2006

We didn’t get out of bed until after eight o’clock, and Shan was anxious to get moving so she could exercise her shopping muscles.  First, we stopped in for the free continental breakfast at the hotel, which was pretty nice.  While we were near the bottom of the hotel, we stopped at the front desk to get better directions to the craft market.  We ended up with something slightly better than what we had.  I also went outside with my GPS unit to get a fix on the hotel, so I could at least get us back to the hotel should we get lost in the maze of streets that is Sao Paolo.  We also had the hotel staff inquire about getting to several artesanatos, or craft stores, around Sao Paolo.  They were all some distance away, and it would take about 40 minutes and would cost us R$70 one-way to get to any of them.  We had the hotel call the one Shan wanted to go to most, but they were unable to get through. 

We decided to try the close craft market first, and use a taxi to one of the distant ones as a back-up plan.  We found the craft market on Rua Felicio Marconez quite easily, and I ended up not needing the GPS unit to get us back to the hotel, despite some unplanned wanderings to other stores after going to the craft market.  

The craft market itself was rather small, but Shan did end up with some nice jewelry.  Overall, there weren’t many crafts there that we, or more specifically, Shan, was interested in, so it wasn’t long before we were roaming the streets in search of other things to buy.  All we found was a knock-off Brazilian soccer jersey, a street performer doing some sort of magic trick we couldn’t understand, and a couple of other street performers with mud all over their heads sitting in complete silence, which was completely incomprehensible to us.

The whole experience left Shan wanting, so on our way back, we decided to go ahead and spend the money for a taxi to one of the distant stores that we found on-line.  By the time we got back to the hotel it was almost noon, and we were out of water, so we ended up having to go back out to where we were to get water, and look for a place to have lunch.  We found water, but didn’t find anyplace that looked all that great for lunch, so we ended up just returning to the hotel and eating in their restaurant.  We watched Germany play Sweden in a World Cup match while we ate.  The game ended with a giddy Germany and a bunch of sad Swedes.

After lunch we went back to the lobby to arrange for a taxi to one of the craft stores.  We asked them to try to call to verify that the place was even open again, and they were still unable to get through.  They checked to make sure that the number was right, and got a new number, which turned out to be a FAX machine.  With some doubts about whether the place we wanted to go to still even existed, we decided that we would use the afternoon to get a little sleep before our long flight home and that we would go to the airport a little earlier than planned to see what kinds of souvenirs we could find there.  In retrospect, we could have tried one of the alternate choices, but in the end, I think that we may have made the right decision.  

The crafts at the airport were certainly more expensive than those that we would have likely found at one of the craft stores, but we would have spent R$140 just getting to/from any of them, so we probably would have spent the same amount of money to get similar items in the end.  The only thing that was very noticeably lacking at the airport that we thought we would have found someplace else were crafts featuring jaguars.  By the time we got dinner right before our departure, we had managed to essentially clean out all of our reias.  We were even virtually penniless, having gone through most of our U.S. currency at various points in the trip as well.

We ended up getting a second dinner on the plane, but we were happy that we’d gotten something before-hand as well, because what we got on the plane wasn’t very filling.  Since we had special vegetarian meals, we got our food first.  The meal came with a glass of water and a small cup of orange juice.  When they started serving the rest of the passengers and came down the aisle with the drink cart, Shan, thinking that they wouldn’t give us anything else to drink, excitedly said, “They’re coming with drinks, hide the juice!”  She can be so cute sometimes.

As I write it is now 2:20 a.m. Sao Paolo time, and we just crossed the border out of Brazil a short while ago.  I think it’s time to get up and stretch before going back to catch up on the days in the Pantanal that I haven’t written about yet.

Day 22:  Sunday, June 25, 2006

We arrived in Houston at the same time as another international flight, so Shan and I made a mad dash for baggage claim so we could get in the customs line before the rush.  It took a little while for our bags to show up, time we spent chatting with a young guy who had spent some time backpacking in Brazil.  After our luggage arrived, we made haste to customs.  The line was short, the questions brief, and we were soon checking our bags back through security for the rest of our journey to Tucson.  

Our next goal was food.  We needed some in a bad way.  The breakfast they served on the flight was tiny, and not very good on top of that.  Amazingly, in an airport the size of Houston’s, we found that there weren’t many restaurants open for that time of the morning.  We ended up at a Wendy’s or something, and I ended up going back for more food to fill me up.  After breakfast, we went out in search of the gate for our flight to Tucson.  We were in no hurry at this point, as we had more time that we would have liked before the flight was scheduled to depart.  

Once at the gate, Shan tried to sleep, and I simply tried to rest.  Our flight home was uneventful, and after arriving in Tucson, we only had a short wait for Kyle and Alice to come and pick us up to take us home.

But our trip related excitement wasn’t over quite yet.  Shan got phlebitis in her right leg on the return flight home, which is a pre-cursor to deep vein thrombosis.  So she had to go to urgent care the day after we returned, and was put on antibiotics to stave off any infections that might occur due to the Now fast forward two weeks.  Shan had some lingering issues with the clotting.  

She also had some bug bites that didn’t seem to want to go away.  After a week and a half, I had a bad feeling about one on her hip in particular.  Exactly two weeks after returning from Brazil, my suspicion was confirmed.   I was preparing to watch the World Cup soccer final when Shan screamed and ran into the den, where I was, saying she saw something moving out of the bite on her hip.  I took a close look, and saw the tell-tale snorkel of a bot fly sticking out as it came up to breath.

Bot flies are large flies (as big or bigger than horse flies from what I can tell) that capture mosquitoes in flight and lay their eggs on them.  When that mosquito bites an animal, it inadvertently injects the bot fly egg into the unsuspecting host.  After that point, it’s basic fly biology.  The egg forms into a larvae, aka maggot, which then becomes an adult botfly.  The larval stage is about seven weeks long.  Once the larval stage ends, the bot fly will emerge from the host body and fly off into the sunset, as it were, leaving the host none the worse for where.  That is, assuming no psychological trauma of course.  And as one might expect, that seven week period isn’t exactly painless.  Shan could feel the bot fly larvae moving around and eating her flesh, occasionally getting stabbing pains in her side.

Another fun fact about the larva . . .  remember how the bot fly is much bigger than a normal fly?  Well so is the larva.  I’ve seen pictures of bot fly larva that were about  4 cm (1.5 inches) long and 1 cm (1/2 inch) in diameter.  Not only that, they have two or three rows of barbs ringing their bodies, presumably to help them gain a purchase in the host body.  Shan knew of none of this and, unless she reads this, still knows none of this.  There are certain things it’s best she doesn’t know.

Shan called the doctor on call at our doctor’s office.  The operator got Dr. Juodakis on the phone and relayed messages back and forth between Shan and Dr. Juodakis.  Dr. Juodakis said that she’d never heard of a bot fly before and that she would have to look it up to figure out what it was, so just recommended that Shan go in to the office on Monday so her doctor could figure it out.  Now, I had researched bot flies a little bit, and knew that although unpleasant, they are not life-threatening, nor even a health hazard, but I was extremely irked at Dr. Juodakis’ attitude.  If she didn’t know anything about bot flies and wasn’t willing to look them up, how would she know if it wasn’t a serious enough problem to warrant instructing Shan to go straight to urgent care?  Her response, I feel, was reckless and negligent.  Fortunately I had done my research, so I did my best to calm Shan down.  As one might expect, I had very limited success to that end.  

It wasn’t critical to get her to the hospital, so we watched the World Cup final.  Or rather, I watched the World Cup final.  Shan spent most of the game watching her hip.  She actually did watch the game quite a bit, but I had hoped that the game would keep her mind off the bod fly more than it did.  One thing that did come out of the game was a name for her bot fly though.  Towards the end of the second overtime, Zizou Zidane, the French superstar player, reared back and severely head-butted one of the Italian players, earning him a red card, suspension from the rest of the game, great shame, and a bot fly named after him.  Shan had been rather ambivalent about who won or lost the World Cup until Zidane head-butted the Italian player.  After that, she was all for Italy.  And she had a good name for her bot fly. 

On Monday, I drove to work in preparation for having to leave early in case Shan was able to find someone to extract the bot fly.  She wanted me to be there for emotional support.  After trying a number of places, she finally found someone at University Medical Center who was sympathetic to her plight and agreed to get her an appointment right away with the tropical diseases folks.  She called me and I left right away to get to the hospital.  When I arrived, a doctor lead me into a small room filled with about a dozen doctors and interns, all huddled around Shan, as the doctor, who had already made the incision, dug around for the bot fly.  The intern that the doctor directed to be Shan’s stand-in husband stepped aside and I took his place.  I held Shan’s hand, caressed her, and tried to help her keep calm as the doctor dug around for the bot fly.  I mentioned that in South America, many villages have people who are adept at massaging bot fly larvae out of afflicted patients, so he tried applying directed pressure to force the bot fly to the surface where he could grab it with the forceps.  This didn’t work, so he dug around a little more.  Eventually, he was got to the point where he was concerned about going any deeper for fear of damaging the stomach lining or other internal body parts.  

He gave us a pair of forceps, advice to try to suffocate the bot fly to the surface that evening, and a follow-up appointment for the following morning.  After we left the hospital, Shan told me that it took two shots of local anesthetic to deaden the pain, and that the doctor had started cutting after the first.  I’m sure that hurt, but she seemed to have taken it well.

That night, I spent two hours staring at the open wound, which we covered with neosporin to try to suffocate the bot fly into submission, but to no avail.  By the next morning, she had only had two cases of sharp pain since the doctor probed around for it.  When we went back in to UMC, the doctor thought that he probably killed it, either with the double dose of anesthetic he had to use to numb (not thumbird or nunbird) the area, or with his proding around with forceps.  He decided not to reopen the incision and just let the body do it's thing, unless it starts to show signs of life again.  He said that if it was still alive, to give him a call and he would get her in with a surgeon immediately to remove it.  The folks at UMC definitely took very good care of Shan, I thought.  The true test would be if the breather hole remained open or if it closed up.  

It took a while, but the wound did heal over, so it must have died.  Needless to say, I spent a great deal of time during Shan’s ordeal either calming her down or trying to get the bot fly larvae out.  After a while, her concern died down, which was good.  And now she has a great story to tell.  Not as good of a story as it would be if I actually had pictures of the bot fly larvae being removed from her flesh, but a good story nonetheless.  :-)

It was somewhat humorous that of all the people on the trip, it was Shan who got the bot fly.  Any of the rest of us would not have felt it to be as traumatic an experience as Shan.  Well, maybe that’s not entirely true.  While relaying the gory details to Chuck while the bot fly drama was playing out, Chuck was acting all tough and said he had hoped to get a bot fly because it would be cool.  But then, he let slip that, “Between you and me, with the video and all the pictures, I just stripped in my bathroom at work and had a good look-over and I think I am good.  I have some bites on my legs, but they are recent, from wearing shorts at home.”  I just about fell on the floor laughing when I heard that.

It’s interesting that both Shan and I got MANY comments, mostly related to the bot fly, to the effect of, “How did Brian convince you to go to Brazil in the first place?”  Even though I did most of the research and planning, Shan was actually the primary motivator for going to Brazil.  After we tell people that, the most common reaction is something like, “oh.  Really?”  This only slightly diminishes the amount of sympathy she gets though.

Some final thoughts on the trip.

I was far more captivated by Santuário do Caraça than I expected to be.  Though there largely to see the maned wolves, I fell in love with the place itself.  Simple, gracious, gorgeous; that is Santuário do Caraça.

I wish that we had been able to also go to other parts of the Pantanal.  We missed out on the real opportunities to see giant anteater, Ocelots, and a host of other amazing terrestrial animals by spending all of our time along the Rio Paraguai.  The only problem is that given time restriction, I’m not entirely sure where I’d have taken the time from to add this to the trip.  If I had to make a choice, I think I would have reduced the amount of time at Rio Cristalino in favor of time in other (drier) parts of the northern Pantanal.  

On our trip, we didn’t go to the Amazon River itself.  I find that I was more disappointed about this after returning from Brazil than while there, but more disappointed about this before going to Brazil than either before or after.  There is a sense of not having truly been to the “Amazon” having not been on the mighty river itself, but believe that we probably experienced something more closely resembling what the Amazon River once was by going to Rio Cristalino.  Speaking from what I’ve read and what I understand, the Amazon River itself is under increasing development pressure, and therefore wildlife is far more scarce than it once was.

Fabricio Dorileo made our trip what it was, in so many ways.  From his extensive knowledge of the local birds, the great lengths he went to in order to make sure we were well taken care of, the local insight he provided, and the great laughs he not only provided but shared in.  Then of course there’s the fact that he had to put up with four rather odd Americans . . .  

Next stop . . .   Africa?


